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20. These assumptions by Mr. Beasley and Mr. Halpin were incorrect. Moreover, by relying 

on their assumptions, rather than adhering to the statutory requirement to report any information 

concerning bullying they received, they both violated the explicit requirements of NRS 

388.1351(1). 

21. In response to the September 15, 2011 email, Mr. Beasley changed the seating 

arrangements in the trombone section of his class. While before, Nolan had been sitting next to C, 

after the change, Nolan set directly in front of C. 

22. While Mr. Beasley attempted to keep an eye on both bullies and the bullied students, he 

admitted that he was unable to constantly watch them and still teach his class.  

23. Mr. Beasley said that he made the decisions concerning the seating arrangements on his 

own without consultation with anyone else. This testimony conflicted with that of Dean Winn, 

who stated that she was involved in the decision. 

24. The bullying continued. For Ethan Bryan, at the beginning of the school year, most of the 

taunts at him by C and D had to do with his size. He was large for his age and overweight. 

25. After the incident where C stabbed Ethan’s friend Nolan with a pencil, the bullying of 

Ethan began to change. It not only escalated but also shifted from being mostly about his size and 

weight to also involve homophobic slurs and vile and graphic innuendos concerning sexual 

relations between Ethan and Nolan. 

26. Like his friend Nolan, Ethan also chose not to report the bullying that he was enduring for 

fear of retaliation, and lack of any real interest on the part of Greenspun school officials. 

27. Mary Bryan, naïvely believing that the school would contact Nolan’s parents after Mary 

sent them the September 15, 2011 email about the stabbing of Nolan, did not directly inform 

Nolan’s parents herself. 

  C. Aimee Hairr’s September 22, 2011 phone conversation with Vice Principal 

DePiazza and  and September 23, 2011 phone call with Counselor Halpin.  
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28. On or about September 21, 2011, while Mary Bryan and Nolan’s mother Aimee Hairr were 

at a birthday party for another of Mary’s children, Mary casually asked Aimee about the school’s 

response to the September 15, 2011 email. 

29. Aimee responded that she had received no communication from the school, and that she 

had no knowledge or information about the bullying of her son occurring in Mr. Beasley’s band 

class. 

30. After talking to Mary, Nolan’s parents then confronted him about the bullying. Nolan 

verified the veracity of the substance of the contents of the September 15, 2011 email. He also 

admitted to the stabbing incident. 

31. On September 22, 2011, Nolan’s mother  made several various  phone calls in an attempt 

to contact the school regarding the September 15, 2011 email about the stabbing of their son. They 

left several messages for different school officials. Finally, Aimee Hairr was able to reach Vice 

Principal DePiazza,  and had a phone conversation with him in which she described the September 

15, 2011 email, and the stabbing, including the comment by C that he did it to see if Nolan was a 

girl. 

32. Mr. DePiazza told Aimee Hairr that there were a few options for Nolan, all involving 

Nolan either transferring out of band class into another class at Greenspun, or transferring out of 

Greenspun to a different school entirely. 

33. Aimee found these so-called solutions to be both inadequate and inappropriate because if 

anyone were to be moved, it should be the perpetrator of the bullying who assaulted her son not  

the victim, Nolan. 

35. Vice Principal DePiazza denied that he ever had a phone conversation with Aimee Hairr. 

According to his version of events, some time in either September or October 2011 (he could not 

remember when) there was a meeting in his office attended by Aimee Hairr, Dean Cheryl Winn 
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and possibly Nolan Hairr. Mr. DePiazza claimed that while there was some generalized discussion 

about the “situation” in the band room, nothing specific about the stabbing or the September 15, 

2011 email was ever mentioned. Neither Aimee Hairr, Nolan Hairr nor Cheryl Winn corroborate 

Mr. DePiazza’s version of events about this supposed  meeting, or even that it took place. 

36. On or about September 23, 2011, Mrs. Hairr received a return phone call from counselor 

John Halpin. Aimee knew Mr. Halpin because she was his dental hygienist. Mr. Halpin told her he 

had received this September 15, 2011 email and was aware of its contents. He said he had 

previously spoken to Nolan and would do so again to make sure that Nolan made a formal 

complaint about the stabbing to the Dean. He said he believed that Dean Winn knew about it, but 

wanted to make sure. 

37. Later that day, Nolan met with Mr. Halpin. Both agreed that the counselor wanted Nolan to 

go to the Dean’s office to fill out an incident report. Mr. Halpin said that he accompanied Nolan to 

Ms. Winn’s office, while Nolan said he was sent there and went by himself. Mr. Halpin also said 

that since the Dean was not in the office, he left a message for Dean Winn with Harriet Clark, her 

secretary, recounting the stabbing incident and the bullying. He gave that message to the Dean’s 

secretary with instructions to relay that message to Dean Winn. The Dean did not report receiving 

Mr Halpin’s message from her secretary. 

38. Nolan, still trying to “tough it out” and not make more trouble for himself by complaining 

and thereby risking further retaliation, left a bland and rather innocuous version of what he was 

enduring in band class. He did not mention the stabbing nor the homophobic, sexually-oriented 

slurs. 

39. Dean Winn said she could not remember whether she met with Nolan on or after 

September 22, 2011. Nolan said that no such meeting took place on or after September 22, 2011. 

Aimee Hairr said she never had a meeting with Dean Winn.  
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40. Dean Winn said she did not learn of the stabbing incident until the following year, 

February 2012. 

 D.  Mary Bryan’s October 19, 2011 email to school officials and October 19, 2011  

meeting with Dean Winn 

 

41. On or about October 19, 2011, Mary Bryan noticed that Ethan had come home from school 

with scratches on his leg. When she confronted him about the scratches, he told her that at the end 

of band class, while Mr. Beasley was out of the room, one of the bullies who was behind Ethan,  

removed a rubber stopper out of a piece of his trombone and started hitting Ethan in the legs with 

the remaining sharp piece of the instrument. 

42. Upon questioning by his parents, Ethan also disclosed that C and D continued to make 

lewd sexual comments including calling both Ethan and Nolan gay, faggots and other similar 

names, and also talked about Ethan and Nolan jerking each other off and otherwise engaging in 

gay sex with each other. 

43. Ethan’s parents, enraged that this was going on -- particularly after the September 15, 2011 

email -- decided to confront school officials. 

44. On October 19, 2011 Mary Bryant sent a second email addressed to Principal McKay, Mr. 

Beasley, and Mr. Halpin describing the continuing bullying and also the hitting scratching of 

Ethan’s leg. 

45. Mr. and Mrs. Bryan met with Dean Winn at the Dean’s office on October 19, 2011. They 

described the bullying endured by both Ethan and Nolan, specifically mentioning the physical 

assaults as well as the vile homophobic slurs that both boys were subjected to by C and D. The 

Bryans made it clear that they would not tolerate a continuation of this bullying. 

46. Dean Winn denied the occurrence of this meeting. She also denied that she knew anything 

about the, emails, the physical assaults and the homophobic slurs in October 2011. She said she 

only learned of the October 19, 2011 e-mail  the following year, in February 2012. 
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 E. The October 19, 2011 Administrator’s meeting where John Halpin informed 

Principal McKay and Vice Principal DePiazza of Mary Bryan’s e-mails. 

 

47. Mr. Halpin, who was a recipient of the October 19, 2011 email said he forwarded that 

email to Dean Winn to make sure she was aware of the situation. Dean Winn denied having 

received the October 19, 2011 email from Mr. Halpin. 

48. Also on October 19, 2011, Mr. Halpin attended a weekly administrators meeting.  Principal 

McKay and Vice Principal DePiazza were at that meeting. Dean Winn, who was a regular 

participant in those weekly meetings did not attend that day. 

49. Mr. Halpin said that he reported on the bullying that was occurring in Mr. Beasley’s band 

class in considerable detail. He also stated that everyone at that meeting knew about the two 

emails that had been sent by Mary Bryan. He also made it clear that the two assaults were 

perpetrated by the same two bullies against the same two bullied students. Mr. Halpin specifically 

recalled Principal McKay telling Vice Principal DePiazza to take care of the matter. 

50. Dr. McKay stated his recollections from the October 19, 2011 administrators meeting 

differently. McKay recalled Mr. Halpin bringing up the subject of bullying in Mr. Beasley’s class, 

but without mentioning many specifics. For reasons he did not disclose, McKay stated that he 

really was not interested in the details of such matters  and left it to his subordinates to address the 

issue.  

51. He stated that he told Mr. DePiazza and Mr. Halpin to handle the situation. McKay also 

stated that he subsequently did not ask the Vice Principal about how the investigation was going 

or what DePiazza had found out, until February 2012. 

52. Principal McKay only took action in February 2012 because it was then that he was 

ordered    by his supervisor at the district level and the Assistant Superintendent to investigate the 

bullying of Ethan and Nolan.  
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53. Vice Principal DePiazza stated a vague memory of the October 19, 2011 administrative 

meeting. He recalled that there may have been some discussion about bullying but didn’t really 

remember much. His position was that he definitely did not remember being told by Dr. McKay to 

conduct an investigation into the bullying reports on October 19, 2011. 

54. Principal McKay stated that in 2011 while he never asked his Vice Principal about the 

bullying investigation, he did, at some point, have a casual discussion with Dean Winn about the 

matter.  He asked her how the investigation was going.  Dean Winn replied that she was having 

trouble getting corroborating statements from other students. 

55. Dean Winn’s testimony contradicted the Principal’s statements by claiming that she did 

not undertake any investigation of the bullying because she was specifically told by Dr. McKay 

that it was all being handled by Vice Principal DePiazza. Dr. McKay testified that Dean Winn told 

him she was investigating by trying to get statements from other students. 

 F. Although by October 19, 2011, all members of the Greenspun Junior High 

School administration aware of, physical, and discriminatory bullying that Ethan and Nolan 

were experiencing no investigation was conducted until February 2012, after both boys had 

left the school. 

 

56. Although the school officials all pointed fingers at each other, the one thing that they all 

agreed upon is that contrary to Nevada statutes, no investigation of the reports of bullying, 

described  in the September 15, 2011, and October 19, 2011 emails from Mary Bryan and the 

September 22, 2011 phone conversation between Aimee Hairr and Vice Principal  DePiazza, the 

September 23, 2011 phone conversation between Aimee Hairr and Mr. Halpin, and the October 

19, 2011 meeting between Mr. and Mrs. Bryan and Dean Winn, ever occurred in 2011. 

57. Throughout the rest of 2011, the bullying of Ethan and Nolan by C and D continued out of 

the sight of Mr. Beasley. 

58. Ethan and Nolan continued to employ the strategy of trying to ignore the problem, feeling 

that any further complaints would just lead to greater retaliation. 
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59. When Ethan and Nolan came back to Greenspun for the second semester, in January 2012, 

their resolve began to waver. Each boy tried to avoid band class or even school altogether.  Ethan  

feigned illness, and even tried to make himself sick by eating cardboard. Nolan would hang out in 

the library or in the halls. By the middle of January, both boys had essentially stopped going to 

school in order to avoid further bullying. 

60. In January 2012, Ethan Bryan was prevented from attempting to commit suicide by 

drinking household chemicals, because of a fortuitous intervention from his mother. Ethan’s 

parents refused to send him back to Greenspun after that. 

61. On or around January 21, 2012 Nolan had, what his mother described as something close 

to a breakdown because of the bullying that he and others were enduring at Greenspun. Mrs. Hairr 

decided to pull Nolan out of the school at that time. She also made a report to the police. 

62. By early February 2012, both Ethan and Nolan had been removed from Greenspun Jr. 

High School. 

63. Subsequent to the removal of Ethan and Nolan from Greenspun, and also subsequent to the 

filing of the police report, Principal McKay, on or about February 7, 2012, was contacted by 

officials from the school district, specifically his direct supervisor Andre Long and the Assistant 

Superintendent Jolene Wallace. He was ordered by Ms. Wallace to conduct an investigation into 

the bullying of Ethan Bryan and Nolan Hairr.  

64. Because he was ordered by his superiors to investigate, Principal McKay directed Vice 

Principal DePiazza to conduct a “second” investigation.  

65. In fact, this was the only investigation done at Greenspun into the bullying of Ethan and 

Nolan. At trial, no one from either the school or the school district  testified either to seeing any 

results of any earlier investigation, nor provided any evidence obtained from any earlier 
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investigation. Contrary to the responsibilities under Nevada law, no investigation ever took place 

while Ethan and Nolan were attending Greenspun Junior High School. 

 
III. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW  

A. The Nevada Supreme Court remanded the case for the limited purpose of 

 determining the existence of a factual predicate for a determination of deliberate 

 indifference.   

              

  In Clark Cty. Sch. Dist. (CCSD) v. Bryan, 478 P.3d 344 (Nev. 2020), the Nevada Supreme 

Court set forth the requisite element to establish a Title IX claim, as stated in Davis v. Monroe Cty. 

Bd. of Educ., 526 U.S. 629 (1999). 

Title IX is a federal civil rights law enacted in 1972 that provides the following: 

"No person in the United States shall, on the basis of sex, be excluded from 

participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under 

any education program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance." 20 

U.S.C. § 1681(a) (2012) (Title IX). 

 

The first requirement for imposing Title IX liability is that the harassment be "on 

the basis of sex." Id. For liability to attach to a school district in cases of student-

on-student harassment, the plaintiff must also show that the school exercised 

substantial control over the harasser and the situation, the harassment was so severe 

as to deprive the plaintiff of educational opportunities, a school official with 

authority to correct the situation had actual knowledge of the harassment, and the 

school was deliberately indifferent to the known harassment. Reese v. Jefferson 

Sch. Dist. No. 14J, 208 F.3d 736, 739 (9th Cir. 2000) (relying on Davis v. Monroe 

Cty. Bd. of Educ., 526 U.S. 629, 119 S. Ct. 1661, 143 L. Ed. 2d 839 (1999)). 

 

478 P.3d 3at 353.   

 The Ninth Circuit has adopted this analytical framework as well. See, Parents for Privacy 

v. Barr, 949 F.3d 1210 (9th Cir. 2020). 

Stating a Title IX hostile environment claim requires alleging that the school 

district: (1) had actual knowledge of; (2) and was deliberately indifferent to; (3) 

harassment because of sex that was; (4) "so severe, pervasive, and objectively 

offensive that it can be said to deprive the victims of access [**29] to the 

educational opportunities or benefits provided by the school." Davis ex rel. 

LaShonda D. v. Monroe Cty. Bd. of Educ., 526 U.S. 629, 650, 119 S. Ct. 1661, 143 

L. Ed. 2d 839 (1999); see also Reese v. Jefferson Sch. Dist. No. 14J, 208 F.3d 736, 

738-39 (9th Cir. 2000). 

 

  949 F.3d at 1226. 
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 The Supreme Court analyzed the instant case pursuant to the Davis standard, and ruled that 

all of the criteria were met, at least post October 19, 2011, except for the still open issue of 

deliberate indifference. The Court ruled that “The school exercised substantial control over the 

harasser and the situation.” 

The district court found that CCSD had substantial control, since the harassment 

occurred during band class.  This prong is typically established where the 

misconduct occurs at school and during school hours. See Davis, 526 U.S. at 

646. The facts establish this prong, as the harassment occurred while the boys were 

at school, and CCSD does not challenge this point on appeal. 

 

  

 478 P.3d at 355. 

 The Court also found that “The harassment was so severe as to deprive the plaintiff of 

educational opportunities.” Id. 

While the record does not reflect that the district court here expressly considered 

the schoolroom setting or that the harassers were minors, we nevertheless conclude 

the record contains sufficient evidence to support   the district court's finding. The 

conduct at issue here went far beyond mere insults and banter—the language was 

ugly, pervasive, and resulted in a serious physical assault. Although the evidence 

suggested the boys did well academically despite the harassment, the facts 

nevertheless demonstrate that Nolan began skipping band and other classes and 

eventually skipped school, while Ethan began faking illness to stay home and was 

contemplating suicide. We therefore conclude substantial evidence supports that the 

boys were denied educational opportunities as a result of the 

harassment. See Davis, 526 U.S. at 654 (suggesting this element is satisfied where 

the harassment has a "concrete, negative effect" on the victim's ability to participate 

in the educational program). 

 

478 P.3d at  356. 

 The Supreme Court also ruled that “[a] school official with authority to correct the 

situation had actual knowledge of the harassment.” 478 P.3d at 356.   

 

 The district court found that the collective complaints and discussions with Mary 

and Aimee put CCSD on notice of the bullying and "should have prompted a 

mandatory investigation." CCSD on appeal contends it did not have actual 

knowledge of the continuing harassment because Nolan and Ethan concealed the 

harassment. 
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This prong requires that a school "official 'who at a minimum has authority to 

address the alleged discrimination and to institute corrective measures'" have 

"actual knowledge of the discrimination." Reese, 208 F.3d at 739 (quoting Gebser 

v. Lago Vista Indep. Sch. Dist., 524 U.S. 274, 290, 118 S. Ct. 1989, 141 L. Ed. 2d 

277 (1998)). 

 

The parties introduced substantial conflicting evidence regarding the extent to 

which Greenspun administrators knew of the ongoing sexual harassment. The 

CCSD employees all denied knowing of the sexual slurs until after the boys left 

school and, to varying degrees, denied knowing details of the physical and 

nonsexual harassment. But Nolan's mother, Aimee, testified to telling school 

administrators on September 22 that C. had stabbed Nolan in the genitals while 

asking if Nolan was a girl. Moreover, Ethan's mother, Mary, testified to reporting 

the full details of the harassment to the dean on October 19. We will not disturb the 

district court's determination that the parents were more credible than the school 

district employees on this fact. See Weddell, 128 Nev. at 101, 271 P.3d at 748; Ellis 

v. Carucci, 123 Nev. 145, 152, 161 P.3d 239, 244 (2007) (acknowledging the 

conflicting evidence presented on an issue of fact and noting, "we leave witness 

credibility determinations to the district court and will not reweigh credibility on 

appeal"). And, because the administrators had the ability to address the bullying 

and institute corrective measures, we conclude CCSD had actual notice for 

purposes of Title IX. See, e.g., Reese, 208 F.3d at 739. 
 

 478 P.3d at 356. 

B. Even in the absence of consideration of the violation of  NRS 3.88.1351, 

Greenspun  officials acted with deliberate Indifference. 

 

 The Supreme Court, however, found the question of whether Defendant acted with 

deliberate indifference to be a bit more complicated. While the Supreme Court acknowledged that 

Defendant failed to comply with the statutorily mandated reporting, investigation and other 

remedial actions set forth in NRS 388.1351, it also stated that such failure by itself could not 

establish deliberate indifference. 

Accordingly, although the violation of a statute, regulation, or policy may inform a 

finding of deliberate indifference, the state law violation could not constitute per 

se deliberate indifference. Our careful review of the district court's orders shows it 

erroneously focused on the statutory violation in finding deliberate indifference 

without expressly analyzing the elements of deliberate indifference under the 

applicable federal standards. The relevant question under the pleaded claims was 

not whether Greenspun administrators failed to comply with NRS 388.1351, but 

whether the response was more than negligent, was clearly unreasonable in light of 

the known circumstances, and caused the boys to either undergo harassment or be 

more vulnerable to it. See, e.g.,  Davis, 526 U.S. at 642-43, 648-49; Karasek, 956 
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F.3d at 1104-05, 1108-09; Reese, 208 F.3d at 739. Again, while the facts 

underlying the statutory violation may inform a finding of deliberate indifference, 

the statutory violation and the deliberate indifference are separate legal questions. 

 

478 P.3d at 358. 

 The Supreme Court found that the District Court focused the deliberate indifference 

analysis too much on the statutory violation, “without expressly analyzing the elements of 

deliberate indifference under the applicable federal standards. “ Id. The Supreme Court also noted 

that the record did not indicate that the complaints made to school personnel by Nolan and his 

mother  about the bullying in September 2011 did not clearly express the fact of the sexual 

element of the harassment he endured. Id. at 358-359. (“Accordingly, to the extent the district 

court found deliberate indifference based upon CCSD's action or inaction in September, that 

finding is not supported by the record.”)   

 After October 19, 2011, the situation was different. 

Mary testified she informed the dean of the full details of the harassment on 

October 19. Thus, the record supports that, by October, Greenspun 

administrators knew the harassment was sexual in nature, ongoing, 

unresolved by the school's earlier efforts, and now involved Ethan as well as 

Nolan. Moreover, no administrator could recall actually investigating that 

report or whether another employee had actually done so. 

 

Importantly, the information gained from the investigation of the September 

incident, and Greenspun's administrators' failure to prevent future harassment, 

informs the October incident. Indeed, at that point it was clear that further 

investigation and more serious intervention was necessary to stop the sexual and 

other harassment against Nolan and Ethan, as well as to prevent further bullying 

and physical assaults. 

 

Id. at 359 (emphasis added). 

 

 It was not until 2012, after both Ethan and Nolan had been removed from Greenspun for 

their safety did any investigation of the sexual bullying and harassment occur. Moreover, this was 

prompted by a police report made by Aimee Hairr. Absolutely no investigation nor any remedial 
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action was undertaken by Greenspun officials until they were ordered to by District 

Administrators subsequent to the filing with the police. 

 While the blatant disregard of their statutory duties does not by itself create per se 

deliberate indifference, the disregard of the statute does inform the analysis of the state of mind of 

the individuals involved. They clearly knew about the bullying, and by at least October 19, were 

aware of the vulgar sexual nature of it. They also knew of the proper procedure concerning how to 

handle such a situation, yet chose to totally ignore it. 

 Deliberate indifference is “the conscious or reckless disregard of the consequences of one’s 

acts or omissions.”  Henkle v. Gregory, 150 F. Supp. 2d at 1078.   Deliberate indifference occurs 

where the recipient's response to the harassment or lack thereof is clearly unreasonable in light of 

the known circumstances.  Reese v. Jefferson Sch. Dist. No. 14J, 208 F.3d 736, 739 (9th Cir. 

2000). It must, at a minimum, “cause students to undergo harassment or make them liable or 

vulnerable to it." Id., citing Davis, 526 U.S. at 645.  “[I]f  an institution either fails to act, or acts in 

a way which could not have reasonably been expected to remedy the violation, then the institution 

is liable for what amounts to an official decision not to end discrimination.” Gebser v. Lago Vista 

Ind. School Dist., 524 U.S. 274, 290 (1998); See, Jane Doe A v. Green, 298 F. Supp.2d 1025, 1035 

(D. Nev. 2004). Greenspun officials’ failure to take further action once they received actual notice 

of the bullying and its nature showed   deliberate indifference. See, Flores v. Morgan Hill Unified 

School Dist., 324 F.3d 1130, 1136 (9
th

 Cir. 2003), Vance v. Spencer County Public School Dist., 

231 F.3d 253 (6
th

 Cir. 2000). 

 "Deliberate indifference" is found if the school administrator "responds to known peer 

harassment in a manner that is . . . clearly unreasonable." Flores v. Morgan Hill Unified Sch. Dist., 

324 F.3d 1130, 1135 (9th Cir. 2003), citing Davis v. Monroe County Bd. of Educ., 526 U.S. 629, 

649 (1999).  

 Under this standard, the question for this Court is, even discounting the statutory violation, 

were the actions of the Greenspun administrators reasonable under the circumstances. As set forth 
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above, the circumstances involved knowledge by the school administrators (at least after October 

19, 2011), that Nolan and Ethan were consistently  being bullied and harassed on the basis of sex. 

Despite this knowledge, school officials chose not to act. No investigations were either made or 

ever began. No remedial action was taken to prevent further sexual harassment of Nolan and 

Ethan.  No action was taken at all until after the boys were removed from the toxic school 

environment and after a police report had been filed. .  “Deliberate indifference may be shown by 

a failure to act to halt the misbehavior.” Doe v. Sch. Dist. No. 1, 970 F.3d 1300, 1314 (10th Cir. 

2020),  citing Davis, 526 U.S. at 654. The Ninth Circuit has explained that a school district will be 

liable for discrimination occurring on school grounds "if the need for intervention was so obvious, 

or if inaction was so likely to result in discrimination, that it can be said to have been deliberately 

indifferent to the need." Jane Doe A v. Green, 298 F. Supp. 2d 1025, 1035 (D. Nev. 2004), citing 

Monteiro v. Tempe Union High School Dist. 158 F.3d 1022, 1034 (9th Cir. 1998). 

C. Greenspun officials decision to not act on the post October 19, 2011 sexual 

 harassment constituted deliberate indifference. 

 

 Greenspun school officials’ actions cannot be deemed as merely ineffective or negligent 

because they deliberately made the decision to take no action. Each official, including the 

Principal, Vice Principal and the Dean claim that they did not know about the sexual harassment, 

even after October 19, 2011. Their respective trial testimony, however, contradicts each other. 

Moreover, as both the District Court and the Nevada Supreme Court have already determined, 

school officials were made aware of the situation, at least after Mary Bryan and her husband told 

their story to Dean Winn.  

 Obviously, in light of Greenspun’s total lack of response, it is impossible to imagine them 

doing less. This is not a circumstance where the school’s response to the sexual harrassment was 

inadequate or merely negligent. No action was taken, nor even claimed to have been taken. To 

find that the school’s actions in this circumstance to be anything other than deliberate indifference, 
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would essentially eviscerate the whole concept of deliberate indifference, as one would be hard 

pressed to conceive of anything less than the total disregard exhibited here. 

D. Plaintiffs are entitled to damages in an amount determined by the finder of 

fact. 

 

  While the remand did not include the question of monetary damages, it was mentioned in 

footnote 11. At trial, Plaintiffs did not specify a particular damages figure, but left it up to the 

finder of fact (in this case the District Court) to determine, based upon all of the evidence. Part of 

the Court’s damages award to Plaintiffs was based on an estimation of out-of-pocket costs. The 

rest was for physical and emotional harm, as testified to at trial. This included incidents of self-

harm and a contemplated suicide. The total amount awarded to each Plaintiff was $200,000, as 

determined by the finder of fact. 

 Emotional distress damages are generally left to the jury’s determination, or in the case of 

a bench trial, the Court’s.  A district court’s computation of damages is reviewed for clear 

error. Marsu, B.V. v. Walt Disney Co., 185 F.3d 932, 938 (9th Cir. 1999),  citing   Nintendo of 

Am., Inc. v. Lewis Galoob Toys, Inc., 16 F.3d 1032, 1038-1039 (9th Cir. 1994). The Ninth Circuit 

noted that they "will not disturb an award of damages unless it is clearly unsupported by the 

evidence." Marsu, supra, citing Stinnett v. Damson Oil Corp., 813 F.2d 1394, 1398 (9th Cir. 

1987). See also, Sandoval v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't, No. 2:10-cv-01196-RCJ-PAL, 2017 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 3381  (D. Nev. Jan. 10, 2017). 

Because Plaintiffs will not be presenting evidence of economic damages, and 

because Plaintiffs represent in their motion brief that they will rely wholly on the 

jury to determine the appropriate amount of damages to be awarded in this case, 

Defendants' motion is denied. See, e.g., Williams v. Trader Publishing Co., 218 

F.3d 481, 486 n. 3 (5th Cir. 2000) ("Since compensatory damages for emotional 

distress are necessarily vague and are generally considered a fact issue for the jury, 

they may not be amenable to the kind of calculation disclosure contemplated 

by Rule 26(a)(1)(C)."); see also Jackson v. United Artists Theatre Circuit, Inc., 278 

F.R.D. 586, 593 (D. Nev. 2011) ("Rule 26(a)(1)(A)(iii) does not require a 

computation of general damages for pain and suffering or emotional distress 

because such damages are subjective and do not lend themselves to 
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computation."); Crocker v. Sky View Christian Acad., No. 3:08-cv-00479-LRH, 

2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1116, 2009 WL 77456, at *2 (D. Nev. Jan. 8, 

2009) ("Indeed, because emotional suffering is personal and difficult to quantify, 

damages for emotional anguish likely will be established predominantly through 

the    plaintiffs' testimony concerning the emotional suffering they experienced, not 

through the type of documentary evidence or expert opinion relied upon to make 

a Rule 26(a)(1)(A)(iii) disclosure of a computation of damages."); Creswell v. 

HCAL Corp., No. 04-cv-388-BTM, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 9724, 2007 WL 628036 

at *2 (S.D. Cal. Feb. 12, 2007) ("While Rule 26 generally requires a party to 

provide a computation of such damages, emotional damages, because of their 

vague and unspecific nature, are oftentimes not readily amenable to computation."). 

Accordingly, Plaintiffs may seek and present evidence of non-economic 

compensatory damages. It is within the jury's ability to determine a reasonable 

amount. 

 

 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 3381, at *9-10.   

  

  Emotional distress damages are are “inextricably related to the conduct    causing  

that distress.” Rozario v. Richards, 687 F. App'x 568, 569-70 (9th Cir. 2017). “The more 

aggravated the conduct, the larger the award of damages is likely to be." Id. at 570, citing Kardly 

v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins., 207 Cal. App. 3d 479, 255 Cal. Rptr. 40, 43 (Ct. App. 

1989). Therefore "[t]he amount and severity of damages for emotional distress is a question of fact 

for the jury [or court] to decide based on all the evidence before it." Id. Although "the amount 

of damages must be reasonable," there "is no fixed or absolute standard by which to compute 

[them]." Plotnik v. Meihaus, 208 Cal. App. 4th 1590, 146 Cal. Rptr. 3d 585, 596 (Ct. App. 

2012) (quoting Hope v. Cal. Youth Auth., 134 Cal. App. 4th 577, 36 Cal. Rptr. 3d 154, 169 (Ct. 

App. 2005)). Moreover, “while other somewhat similar cases furnish no precise or accurate bases 

for comparison, they are nevertheless continually resorted to by appellate courts as of some 

guidance. Reilly v. Cal. S. C. R. Co., 76 Cal. App. 2d 620, 627, 173 P.2d 872, 876 (1946). 

Therefore, the District Court’s use of Henkle v. Gregory, 150 F. Supp. 2d 1067 (D. Nev. 2001) as 

a benchmark for comparison in assessing damages was entirely proper. 

IV. CONCLUSION 
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 For these reasons, the Court finds that Greenspun officials acted with deliberate 

indifference to the sexual harassment that Ethan and Nolan suffered through, at least from October 

19, 2011 through the time they left Greenspun to escape their torment. This deliberate 

indifference, combined with the findings already made by the Nevada Supreme Court, as stated 

above, comprise a Title IX violation.  

V. JUDGMENT 

 Judgment is hereby entered in favor of  Plaintiffs Ethan Bryan and Nolan Hairr on Title IX 

claims against Defendant CCSD. Each Plaintiff is hereby awarded the sum of two hundred 

thousand dollars ($200,000).  

 

 

____________    __________________________ 

DATE      DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 
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Tel:  702.433-2666
Fax:  702.433-9591
allaw@lvcoxmail.com

John Houston Scott (CA Bar No. 72578)
Admitted Pro Hac Vice
SCOTT LAW FIRM
1388 Sutter Street, Suite 715
San Francisco, CA  94109
Tel:  415.561-9601
john@scottlawfirm.net

Attorneys for Plaintiffs, Ethan Bryan,
and Nolan Hairr

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

ETHAN BRYAN; and NOLAN HAIRR

Plaintiffs,

vs.

CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 
(CCSD

Defendant .

Case No. A-14-700018-C

Dept. No. XXVII

PLAINTIFFS’  MOTION FOR 
ATTORNEYS FEES AND COSTS

Department:  XXVII

Trial Dates: Day1, 11/15/16; Day 2, 
11/16/16; Day 3, 11/17/16; Day 4, 11/18/16;
Day 5, 11/22/16 

               

Come now Plaintiffs, by and through the undersigned attorneys, and file this Plaintiffs’

Motion for Attorneys Fees and Costs based on all pleadings and papers on file herein, and the 

Memorandum of Law attached hereto, and any further argument and evidence as may be presented 

at hearing.   

Dated this18th day of  July 2021, 

Respectfully submitted by: 

Case Number: A-14-700018-C

Electronically Filed
7/18/2021 3:43 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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/s/Allen Lichtenstein 
Allen Lichtenstein 
Nevada Bar No. 3992 
ALLEN LICHTENSTEIN LTD. 
3315 Russell Road, No. 222 
Las Vegas, NV  89120 
Tel:  702.433-2666 
Fax:  702.433-9591 
allaw@lvcoxmail.com 
 
John Houston Scott (CA Bar No. 72578) 
Admitted Pro Hac Vice 
SCOTT LAW FIRM 
1388 Sutter Street, Suite 715 
San Francisco, CA  94109 
Tel:  415.561.9601 
john@scottlawfirm.net 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs, Mary Bryan, Ethan Bryan, 
Aimee Hairr and Nolan Hairr 
 
 
 

 
NOTICE OF MOTION 

 
 YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, will please take notice that the undersigned will bring the 

above and foregoing motion on for hearing before this Court at the courtroom in the above-entitled 

Court on the ___ day of ______________, 2021, at ________ o’clock, or as soon thereafter as 

counsel can be heard. 

 Dated this 9th day of August, 2021. 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES  

I. Introduction  

 Plaintiffs move pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988 for an award of reasonable attorneys fees and 

costs, in the following amounts:  $157,500.00  in attorneys  fees for John H. Scott; $ 297,360.00 in 

attorneys fees for Allen Lichtenstein (as a private attorney)($ 292,500.00 from initial award + 

$4,860.00 post remand);  $9,360 in attorney’s fees for Staci Pratt (as a private attorney); and, 

$11,058.75 in attorneys fees for the ACLU of Nevada (ACLUN) for a total of  $474,778.75 in 

attorneys’ fees, and costs in the amount of  $19,236 for a total of $494,014.75. All fees except the 

post remand fees for Mr Lichtenstein were awarded pre-appeal on 11/16/17. 

 As explained below, Plaintiffs are prevailing parties in this case. Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ 

counsel are entitled to be fully compensated for their time and expenses. The fees and costs 

claimed by Plaintiffs’ attorneys are set forth in attachments to the Declarations of John H. Scott, 

Esq.   and Allen Lichtenstein, Esq.   

II. Procedural History  

  Plaintiffs filed their initial Complaint on April 29, 2014, against Defendants: Clark County 

School District (CCSD), Pat Skorkowsky, in his official capacity as CCSD Superintendent; CCSD 

Board of School Trustees; Erin A. Cranor, Linda E. Young, Patrice Tew, Stavan Corbett, Carolyn 

Edwards, Chris Garvey, Deanna Wright, in their official capacities as CCSD Board of School 

Trustees, Greenspun Jr. High School (GJHS); Principal Warren P. McKay, in his individual and 

official capacity as principal of GJHS; Leonard DePiazza, in his individual and official capacity as 

assistant principal at GJHS; Cheryl Winn, in her individual and official capacity as Dean at GJHS; 

John Halpin, in his individual and official capacity as counselor at GJHS; Robert Beasley, in his 

individual and official capacity as instructor at GJHS.  
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 The Complaint listed five claims for relief: 1) Negligence; 2) Negligence Per Se; 3) 

Violation of Title IX; 4)  Violation of the Right to Equal Protection;  5) Violation of Substantive 

Due Process. Plaintiffs were represented by Allen Lichtenstein, General Counsel of the ACLU of 

Nevada (ACLUN); Staci Pratt, the ACLUN’s Legal Director, and Amanda Morgan, staff attorney, 

aided by interns. 

 On or about July 31, 2014, all three lawyers for Plaintiffs left the ACLUN. Mr. 

Lichtenstein and Ms. Pratt substituted in, continuing to represent Plaintiffs as private attorneys. 

Ms. Pratt left Nevada and moved to Kansas City. She switched her Nevada Bar membership to 

inactive status. Ms. Pratt’s last work on this case was on December 2, 2014. 

 On August 21, 2014 a Hearing was held on Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ 

Complaint, that was granted in part and denied in part. The Court denied Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Substantive Due Process claim, and granted the Motion on all other claims 

without prejudice. The Order was entered on September 10, 2014. 

 On October 10, 2014, Plaintiffs filed their Amended Complaint. In its February 10, 2015 

Order, the Court Dismissed Plaintiffs' Claims for Relief  No. 1, Negligence, and No. 2, Negligence 

Per Se. Plaintiffs abandoned their Fourth Claim for Relief, Equal Protection, leaving the Third 

Claim for Relief, Title IX, and Fifth Claim for Relief,  Substantive Due Process, for trial. 

Defendants filed their Answer on February 25, 2015.   

 On July 7, 2015 the Court granted Plaintiffs’ Motion to Associate Counsel. John H Scott 

entered the case, pro hac vice, on behalf of Plaintiffs, joining Allen Lichtenstein. 

 On March 1, 2016, Defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, which was granted 

in part and denied in part by the Court in its July 22, 2016 Order. The Court denied Defendants’ 

Motion to dismiss Plaintiffs’ Title IX claim against Defendant CCSD. It dismissed the 42 USC 

1983 Equal Protection claims, which had been abandoned by Plaintiffs. The Court granted 
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Defendants’ Motion to dismiss all Defendants except CCSD from the 42 USC 1983 Substantive 

Due Process claim.  Overall, the Court ruled the two remaining claims against CCSD, 1) Title IX; 

and 2) Substantive Due Process would proceed to trial.  

 On February 10, 2016, the Court denied Defendants’ Motion to Compel Rule 35 

Examination. On or about March 20, 2016, Discovery Commissioner Bulla denied Defendants’ 

Motion to Compel Damages Categories and Calculations, allowing such calculations to be 

determined by the Court at trial. The Discovery Commissioner’s Report and Recommendations 

were affirmed and adopted by the Court on April 6, 2016. 

 On August 5, 2016, Defendant CCSD filed a Motion for Partial Reconsideration, or in the 

Alternative, Motion for Relief Pursuant to N.R.C.P. § 59(E), N.R.C.P. §  60(A) and N.R.C.P. § 

60(B), or Motion in Limine. On October 26, 2016 the Court denied Defendant’s Motion. 

 On November 15, 2016, a five-day bench trial was held in Department 27 before the 

Honorable Judge Nancy L. Allf. Allen Lichtenstein, Esq. and John Houston Scott, Esq. appeared 

for and on behalf of Plaintiffs Mary Bryan ("Mrs. Bryan") and Aimee Hairr ("Mrs. Hairr"),   

(collectively Plaintiffs").  Daniel Polsenberg, Esq., Dan Waite, Esq., and Brian D. Blakley, Esq. 

appeared for and on behalf of Defendant CCSD, ("Defendant") on the Title IX  and 42 U.S.C. 

N.R.C.P. § 1983 Substitute Due Process claims. Testimony was given by: Nolan Hairr, Ethan 

Bryan, Aimee Hairr, Mary Bryan, Principal Warren McKay, Vice Principal Leonard DePiazza, 

Dean Cheryl Winn, Counselor John Halpin and band teacher Robert Beasely.  Although neither 

one of the alleged bullies testified , CL’s deposition was introduced into evidence. (For privacy 

purposes,  only the initials of CL and DM are used.) 

 Closing arguments were done via written briefs. Briefing was completed on May 26, 2017. 

On June 29, 2017, the Court issued its Decision and Order, concluding that Defendant CCSD 

violated both Title IX of the Civil Rights Act and also violated Plaintiffs’ Substantive Due Process 
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rights as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution pursuant to 

42 U.S.C. § 1983. The Court further ordered that after review, “Judgment shall be entered in favor 

of Plaintiffs Mary Bryan, on behalf of Ethan Bryan and Aimee Hairr on behalf of Nolan Hairr, and 

that Plaintiffs are entitled to a judgment for all damages sought under these two claims asserted in 

the Complaint, and proven at trial.” 

 On July 21, 2017 the Court filed its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and 

Judgment. On July 27, 2017 Plaintiffs Filed their Memorandum of Costs and Disbursements. 

(Exhibit A). On November 16, 2017, the Court filed its initial Order regarding Plaintiffs’ fees and 

costs, as follows (Exhibit B): $157,500, John Scott; $292,500.00; Allen Lichtenstein; $9,360.00 

Staci Pratt, (as private attorney); ACLU of Nevada $3,870.00, (Staci Pratt); $7,188.75, (Amanda 

Morgan); for a total fee award of $470,418.75. An additional award of costs was made to Plaintiffs 

of $19,236.19.(Exhibit C). The combined award for fees and cost was $489,654.94.   That sum, 

plus an additional fee of $4,860 for post-remand work by Allen Lichtenstein brings the entire 

amount to $494,514.94.(Exhibit D). This is the amount requested in this Motion.  All of the 

aforementioned Exhibits are hereby incorporated by reference. 

 On August 23, 2017 Defendant filed notice of appeal, which was amended on November 

22, 2017.  On January 25, 2018, the Nevada Supreme Court remanded the case back to the District 

Court to resolve the issue of whether Greenspun officials acted with deliberate indifference to the 

plight of Ethan Bryan and Nolan Hairr.  On June 16, 2021, the District Court again ruled in favor 

of in favor of Plaintiffs on their Title IX claims, accepting Plaintiffs’ Findings of Fact and 

Conclusions of Law.  Notice of Entry of Order was filed on June 27, 2021 This instant Motion 

incorporates the prior Fee motion and award, along with the fees incurred during the remand 

process.  As Plaintiffs did not prevail at the Nevada Supreme Court, no fees for work by Plaintiffs’ 

counsel in that forum are included. 
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III. Argument 

 A. Plaintiffs are prevailing parties and are entitled to attorney fees and costs.  

 The Civil Rights Attorney Fee Awards Act of 1976 provides in pertinent part that: "In any 

action or proceeding to enforce a provision of sections 1981,1981 a, 1982, 1983, 1985, and 1986 

of this title, title IX of Public Law 92-318 [20 U.S.C.A. § 1681 et seq.] ... the court, in its 

discretion, may allow the prevailing party, other than the United States, a reasonable attorney's fee 

as part of the costs[.]" 42 U.S.C. § 1988(b). (emphasis added)  The legislative history makes clear 

that prevailing parties "`should ordinarily recover an attorney's fee unless special circumstances 

would render such an award unjust."' ]; Hensley v. Eckerhart, 461 US. 424, 429 (1983), quoting S. 

Rep. No. 941011, at 4 (1976) and Newman v. Piggie Park Enterprises, Inc., 390 U.S. 400, 402 

(1968). Thus, under the Act the District Court may award reasonable attorney's fees to the 

Prevailing Party in a Section 1983 action and/or a Title IX action. Under Section 1988, in order for 

a prevailing plaintiff to be entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees said plaintiff must obtain an 

enforceable judgment from the court.  Farrar v. Hobby, 506 U.S. 103, 111 (1992); CRST Van 

Expedited, Inc. v. EEOC, 136 S. Ct. 1642, 1646 (2016).   

Congress has included the term “prevailing party” in various fee-shifting statutes, 
and it has been the Court’s approach to interpret the term in a consistent manner. 
See Buckhannon Bd. & Care Home, Inc. v. W. Va. Dep't of Health & Human Res., 
532 U. S. 598, 602, 603, and n. 4, 121 S. Ct. 1835, 149 L. Ed. 2d 855 (2001). The 
Court has said that the “touchstone of the prevailing party inquiry must be the 
material alteration of the legal relationship of the parties.” Texas State Teachers 
Assn., 489 U.S. 782, 792-793, 109 S. Ct. 1486, 103 L. Ed. 2d 866 (1989). This 
change must be marked by “judicial imprimatur.” Buckhannon, 532 U. S., at 605, 
121 S. Ct. 1835, 149 L. Ed. 2d 855. The Court has explained that, when a plaintiff 
secures an “enforceable judgmen[t] on the merits” or a “court-ordered consent 
decre[e],” that plaintiff is the prevailing party because he has received a “judicially 
sanctioned change in the legal relationship of the parties.” Id., at 604-605, 121 S. 
Ct. 1835, 149 L. Ed. 2d 855. 

 
136 S. Ct.  at 1646. 
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 Generally, Plaintiffs cross the prevailing party threshold "if they succeed on any significant 

issue in litigation which achieves some of the benefit the parties sought in bringing the suit." Texas 

State Teachers’ Association v. Garland Independent School. Dist., 489 U.S. at 789.    In the case at 

bar, Plaintiffs prevailed when this Court gave Plaintiffs the relief sought. In Saint John's Organic 

Farm v. Gem Cty. Mosquito Abatement Dist., 574 F.3d 1054, 1059 (9th Cir. 2009), the Ninth 

Circuit noted that the Supreme Court in Farrar, supra, made clear how little actual relief is 

necessary. See also, Hashimoto v. Dalton, 118 F.3d 671, 677 (9th Cir. 1997) ("The degree of 

success is irrelevant to the question whether the plaintiff is the prevailing party."). See also, Stivers 

v. Pierce, 71 F.3d 732, 751 (9th Cir. 1995). 

 The Nevada Supreme Court follows this standard. Univ. of Nev. v. Tarkanian, 110 Nev. 

581, 590, 879 P.2d 1180, 1186 (1994) (“As a general rule, a prevailing plaintiff may recover 

reasonable attorney's fees as costs under section 1988 unless the losing defendant can establish the 

existence of special circumstances which would make the award unjust.”), See also,  Cuzze v. 

Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys., 123 Nev. 598, 604, 172 P.3d 131, 136 (2007);  Lippis v. Peters, 112 

Nev. 1008, 1014, 921 P.2d 1248, 1252 (1996).  

 Here, Plaintiffs were successful in obtaining Judgment in their favor on both the Title IX 

violation and the Substantive Due Process violation claims, with each Plaintiff receiving damages 

in the amount of $200,000.  Thus, Plaintiffs are unquestionably the prevailing parties in this case 

and are therefore entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees and costs. See, Jeff D. V. Kempthorne, 365 

F.3d 844, 855 (9th Cir. 2004); Democratic Party of Wahington State v. Reed, 388 F.3d 1281, 1288 

(9th Cir. 2004); Fisher v. SJB-P.D. Inc., 214 F.3d 1115, 1118 (9th Cir. 2000).   

 B Plaintiffs are entitled to a fully compensatory fee.  

 Once a Plaintiff has been determined to be a prevailing party, "[t1he most useful starting 

point for determining the amount of a reasonable fee is the number of hours reasonably expended 
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on the litigation multiplied by a reasonable hourly rate." Hensley, 461 U.S. at 433. "[T]he 'product  

of reasonable hours times a reasonable rate' [known as the ‘lodestar’] normally provides a 

‘reasonable’   fee within the meaning of the statute." Blum v. Stenson, 465 U.S. 886, 897 (1984) 

(quoting Hensley, 461 U.S. at 434); Van Gerwen v. Guarantee Mut. Life Co., 214 F.3d 1041, 1045 

(9th Cir. 2000); Tahara v. Matson Terminals, Inc., 511 F.3d 950, 955-56 (9th Cir. 2007). "Where a 

plaintiff has obtained excellent results, his attorney should recover a fully compensatory fee. 

Normally this will encompass all hours reasonably expended on the litigation[.]" Hensley, 461 

U.S. at 435. Herbst v. Humana Health Ins., 105 Nev. 586, 781 P.2d 762,  (1989).  

The correct method for determining the amount of attorney's fees under federal 
statutes has been decided by the United States Supreme Court and other federal 
courts. HN2 After a court has determined that attorney's fees are appropriate it then 
must multiply the number of hours reasonably spent on the case by a reasonable 
hourly rate to reach what is termed the lodestar amount. Pennsylvania v. Delaware 
Valley Citizens' Council for Clean Air, 478 U.S. 546, 564-566 (1986); Patton v. 
County of Kings, 857 F.2d 1379, 1382 (9th Cir. 1988); Southerland v. International 
Longshoremen's and Warehousemen's Union, 845 F.2d 796, 800-801 (9th Cir. 
1988). There is a strong presumption that the lodestar rate is reasonable. Delaware 
Valley Citizens, 478 U.S. at 565; Patton, 857 F.2d at 1382. 
 

105 Nev. at 590, 781 P.2d at 764.   

 Under the lodestar method, "a district court must start by determining how many hours 

were reasonably expended on the litigation, and then multiply those hours by the prevailing local 

rate for an attorney of the skill required to perform the litigation." Moreno v. City of Sacramento, 

534 F.3d 1106, 1111 (9th Cir. 2008);  Tahara, 511 F.3d at 955. There is a strong presumption that 

the lodestar is a reasonable fee. Gates v. Deukmejian, 987 F.2d 28 1392, 1397 (9th Cir. 1992). 

 Plaintiffs are presumptively entitled to the lodestar even if it exceeds the damages award. 

See Fair Housing of Marin v. Combs, 285 F.3d 899, 908 (9th Cir. 2002) (attorney's fees in civil 

rights cases need not be proportionate to the amount of damages a plaintiff recovers) (citing City 

of Riverside v. Rivera, 477 U.S. 561 (1986) (affirming a $245,456.25 fee award in a case where 

plaintiff recovered $33,350)); Morales v. City of San Rafael, 96 F.3d 359 (9th Cir. 1996) (district  
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court's award of attorney's fees of only $20,000 after civil rights plaintiff had won compensatory 

damages of $17,500 was calculated improperly and too low;  Plaintiff included "extensive and 

detailed explanations as to why the lodestar figure of $134,759.75 was a reasonable fee in this 

case"); Quesada v. Thomason, 850 F.2d 537 (9th Cir.1988) (holding that in a civil rights case the 

district court "should not have reduced the attorney's fees simply because the damage award was 

small").   

 A rule of proportionality that would limit fee awards under section 1988 to a proportion of 

the damages recovered in the underlying suit is inconsistent with the flexible approach to lodestar 

calculations that takes into account all considerations relevant to the reasonableness of the time 

spent." Oberfelder v. City of Petaluma, No. C-98-1470, 2002 WL 472308, *10 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 

29,2002) (Patel, J.) (citing Cunningham v. County of Los Angeles, 879 F.2d 19 481,486 (9th Cir. 

1988)),  The amount of damages recovered by the plaintiffs is not the sole indicator of the extent 

of their success. Morales, 96 F.3d at 364. "[A] civil rights plaintiff  seeks to vindicate important 

civil and constitutional rights that cannot be valued solely in monetary terms." City of Riverside, 

477 U.S. at 574. "[T]he district court must consider the excellence of the overall result, not merely 

the amount of damages won." McCown v. City of Fontana, 565 F.3d 1097, 1103 (9th Cir. 2009). 

In Morales, a civil rights plaintiff prevailed against the city and the police officer involved in his 

unlawful arrest. 96 F.3d at 364. The Ninth Circuit held  that his "nonmonetary success was 

significant." Id. "Because [the jury] assessed damages against the defendants, the verdict 

established a deterrent to the City, its  law enforcement officials and others who establish and 

implement official policies governing arrests of citizens. Thus, it served the public purpose of 

helping to protect Morales and persons like him from being subjected to similar unlawful 

treatment in the future." Id. In fact, in some cases of exceptional success an enhanced award or 

multiplier may be justified.  Blum, 465   U.S. at 897.  
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 The reasonable fee award in this case "should consider not only the  monetary results, but 

also the significant nonmonetary results" that the plaintiffs  achieved for themselves and for "other 

members of society." Morales, 96 F.3d at  365. See also Gonzalez v. City of Maywood, 729 F.3d 

1196, 1209-10 (9th Cir. 2013) ("[i]t is not per se unreasonable for attorneys to receive a fee award 

that exceeds the amount recovered by their clients," which is "especially true in civil rights cases, 

where the dollar amount lawyers recover for their clients is not the sole measure of the results the 

prevailing parties' attorneys obtained."). The instant case is precedent – setting in that it is the first 

successful lawsuit against CCSD for acting with deliberate indifference to school bullying it had 

actual knowledge of. That precedent may provide public benefits that extend far beyond the 

individual Plaintiffs here.  

  1. The hourly rates sought by Plaintiffs’ counsel are reasonable.  

 The Supreme Court has stated that, "where a plaintiff has obtained excellent results, his 

attorney should recover a fully compensatory fee. Normally this will encompass all hours 

reasonably expended on the litigation, and indeed in some cases of exceptional success an 

enhanced award may be justified." Hensley, 461 U.S. at 435. Plaintiffs' attorneys seek 

compensation for all hours reasonably expended on the litigation which contributed to Plaintiffs' 

ultimate success. See Democratic Party of Washington State v. Reed, 388 F.3d 1281, 1286-87 (9th 

Cir. 2004).  

Ordinarily, the attorney fee rate to be utilized under 42 U.S.C. § 1988 is the 
prevailing market rate for an attorney of similar experience and skill in the forum 
community. Blum, 465 U.S. at 895; Pressley v. Haeger, 977 F.2d 295, 299 (7th Cir. 
1992). Prevailing plaintiffs are entitled not to a "just" or "fair" price for legal 
services, but to the market price for legal services. Burlington v. Dague, 505 U.S. 
557 (1992); Missouri v. Jenkins, 491 U.S. 274, 285,(1989); Blum   465 U.S. at  
892-96.   "It is not the function of judges in fee litigation to determine the 
equivalent of the medieval just price. It is to determine what the lawyer would 
receive if he were selling his services in the market rather than being paid by court 
order." In re Continental Illinois Securities Litigation, 962 F.2d 566, 568 (7th Cir. 
1992). 
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  977 F.2d at, 299. 

 Mr. Scott seeks compensation at a rate of $650 and Mr. Lichtenstein at the rate of $600 per 

hour. This is reasonable and is comparable to the market rates charged by attorneys of similar skill 

and experience in the District of Nevada in a matter concerning complex civil rights and 

constitutional issues.  (See attached Declaration of Clyde DeWitt, Exhibit 3).  

 The rates for Ms. Pratt is $450 per hour; $250 per hour for Ms. Morgan, and $125 per hour 

for ACLUN interns. 

  2. Plaintiffs seek fees for a reasonable number of hours.  

 In determining what constitutes a reasonable number of hours, the Court is to consider the 

factors set forth in Kerr v. Screens Extras Guild Inc., 526 F.2d 67, 70 (9th Cir. 1975), cert. denied. 

425 U.S. 951 (1976).  The factors to be considered are: (1) the time and labor required, (2) the 

novelty and difficulty of the questions involved, (3) the skill requisite to perform the legal service 

properly, (4) the preclusion of other employment by the attorney due to acceptance of the case, (5) 

the customary fee, (6) whether the fee is fixed or contingent, (7) time limitations imposed by the 

client or the circumstances, (8) the amount involved and the results obtained, (9) the experience, 

reputation, and ability of the attorneys, (10) the "undesirability" of the case, (11) the nature and 

length of the professional relationship with the client, and (12) awards in similar cases.   

 In the instant case, the time and labor required are set forth in the attachments to the 

declarations of John Scott and Allen Lichtenstein. The hours listed in the fee request are neither 

duplicative, unnecessary nor excessive. See, Hensley at 434. The case involved a myriad of 

statutory and constitutional issues and involved both disputes of law and fact.  Because these 

issues involve the basic rights   it was essential the case be litigated thoroughly and meticulously.  

 Not only were the rights of the named plaintiffs at stake but the rights of parents  with 

children in the Clark County School District and also to the entire public.  Both Mr. Scott and Mr. 
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Lichtenstein have decades of experience in civil rights litigation. This case involved significant 

motion practice, as well as a five day trial. The number of hours the Plaintiffs seek compensation 

for is reasonable under the Kerr factors. 

  3. Contingent risk 

 The case was undertaken on a pure contingency basis. Although by itself, the fact that a 

case is a contingency one is not an independent factor to be considered, it should be part of the 

lodestar  factor analysis. City of Burlington, supra.   

We note at the outset that an enhancement for contingency would likely duplicate 
in substantial part factors already subsumed in the lodestar. The risk of loss in a 
particular case (and, therefore, the attorney's contingent risk) is the product of two 
factors: (1) the legal and factual merits of the  claim, and (2) the difficulty of 
establishing those merits. The second factor, however, is ordinarily reflected in the 
lodestar -- either in the higher number of hours expended to overcome the 
difficulty, or in the higher hourly rate of the attorney skilled and experienced 
enough to do so.  Blum v. Stenson, 465 U.S. 886, 898-899 (1984). 

 
  505 U.S. at 562-63.  
 

 C. Under the Brunzell standards, Plaintiffs’ attorneys should receive the full  
  lodestar amount. 
  
  In Brunzell v. Golden Gate Nat'l Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 349, 455 P.2d 31, 33 (1969), the 

Nevada Supreme Court listed four factors to be considered in “establishing the value of counsel 

services”: (1) the qualities of the advocate: his ability, his training, education, experience, 

professional standing and skill; (2) the character of the work to be done: its difficulty, its intricacy, 

its importance, time and skill required, the responsibility imposed and the prominence and 

character of the parties where they affect the importance of the litigation; (3) the work actually 

performed by the lawyer: the skill, time and attention given to the work; (4) the result: whether the 

attorney was successful and what benefits were derived.  Here, all of the Brunzell factors favor the 

awarding of the full lodestar amount of attorneys fees. 

  1. The qualities of the advocate:  ability, training, education, 
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   experience, professional standing and skill; 
 
 Plaintiffs were originally represented by the ACLU of Nevada which is the premier civil 

rights organization in the State. After Mr. Lichtenstein and Ms. Pratt left the ACLUN, the two 

primary attorneys for Plaintiffs were, Allen Lichtenstein, in his capacity as a private attorney, and 

John H. Scott. Both are well respected advocates with decades of experience in complex litigation, 

including federal civil rights claims.   

   a. Allen Lichtenstein 

 Allen Lichtenstein was licensed to practice law in Nevada in 1990 (Bar No. 3992) and in 

California in 1991, after the receiving a J.D. degree from the Benjamin Cardozo School of Law in 

New York. Prior to that, he a received a Ph.D. in the field of Communication from Florida State 

University, in 1978. He has been on the faculty of SUNY at Buffalo, the  University of New 

Mexico and Brooklyn College in the field of journalism and communication. He has also taught 

First Amendment classes at UNLV. In addition to his private law practice, Dr. Lichtenstein was 

the General Counsel for the American Civil Liberties Union of Nevada from 1997 to 2014. 

 Mr. Lichtenstein has litigated dozens of cases involving civil rights issues on both the 

District Court and appellate levels, and has  litigated and argued civil rights cases in Nevada State 

Courts, including the Nevada Supreme Court, and in Federal Courts including the Court of 

Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, and the United States Supreme Court. 

   b. John H. Scott 

 Mr. Scott graduated from Golden Gate University School of Law in June 1976.  He is 

admitted to practice in the State of California, the United States District Court for the Northern 

District of California, United States District Court for the Central District of California, the United 

States District Court for the Eastern District of California, the United States District Court for the 
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Southern District of California, the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, and the 

Supreme Court of the United States.      

 In the 40 years he has been  a member of the Bar, he has been involved in over 250 cases 

spanning the broad spectrum of civil rights and constitutional law, including extensive experience 

litigating against public entities.  

 Mr. Scott is listed as counsel over 150 cases in the Northern District of California and 60 

cases in the Ninth Circuit. He has tried over 150 cases to verdict, and has argued in the Ninth 

Circuit Court of Appeals over 40 times.  For most of Mr. Scott’s career he has specialized in civil 

rights litigation with an emphasis on Section 1983 actions. He has also lectured, written, and 

consulted about civil rights litigation. 

   His forty years of practice as a civil rights attorney has also involved numerous Section 

1983 cases that were based in whole, or in part, on a theory of “deliberate indifference.”  This 

often arose in custodial type situations where children, patients or inmates were dependent upon 

state actors for their safety and well-being.  The common theme was a statutory and/or 

constitutional duty to protect someone from a known risk of serious harm. In recent years Mr. 

Scott has also associated as co-counsel (pro hoc vice) outside of California in Arizona, Colorado 

and Florida.  This was the first case that went to trial in Nevada. 

   c. Staci Pratt 

 Staci Pratt graduated from Boston College School of Law and practiced with Shook, Hardy 

and Bacon for 10 years. Staci Pratt was hired by  the ACLUN in November of 2011. She assisted 

in the initiation of this case and all of the base research and work until her departure from the 

ACLU of Nevada in 2014.  She continued to work on this case in cooperation with Allen 

Lichtenstein and is the current Executive Director at Missourians for Alternatives to the Death 

Penalty. 
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   d. Amanda Morgan 

  Amanda Morgan graduated from the Boyd School of Law in 2013.  Amanda was hired in 

2013 as a staff attorney with the ACLU of Nevada.  She interned with the ACLU of Nevada in 

2012.  Amanda Morgan is the current Legal Director for the Education Nevada Now.  

  2.  The character and difficulty of the work performed: Its    
   difficulty, its intricacy, its importance, time and skill required,   
   and responsibility imposed and the comments and character of  
   the parties where they effect the importance of the litigation; 
 
  As this court is well aware, the issues presented pertain to the laws concerning Title IX 

and Substantive Due Process as they relate to the responsibility of school officials to protect their 

students from bullying. How the facts of this case related to that law were complex, difficult, and 

took substantial knowledge and skill by Plaintiffs’ attorneys. The attorneys retained by Plaintiffs  

had to be well versed, not only in trial advocacy,  but also in the intricacies of  Title IX and 

Substantive Due Process  law pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

 This case is precedent –setting, as it is the first time that CCSD was successfully sued for 

failing to protect students from intense, pervasive and continuing bullying. It should be noted that 

the Court itself commented on “highest skill and utmost professionalism” demonstrated by the 

lawyers in this case, (Trial Transcript, Day 5, at 67). 

 The ACLU of Nevada (ACLUN) represented the Plaintiffs at the outset of the case, until 

the end of July 2014. Allen Lichtenstein and Staci Pratt, along with Amanda Morgan were the 

attorneys for the ACLUN. Mr. Lichtenstein and Ms. Pratt then continued to represent Plaintiffs 

after leaving the ACLU of Nevada. Shortly thereafter, on or about December 2, 2014, Ms. Pratt 

left Nevada and her Nevada Bar membership went inactive. Mr. Lichtenstein continued 

representation of Plaintiffs by himself until Mr. Scott entered the case pro hac vice on July 7, 

2015. Mr. Lichtenstein and Mr. Scott represent Plaintiffs to this day, including a 5-day bench trial 

and extensive pre-trial and post trial briefing, including extensive written closing arguments.  On 
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July 20, 2017, the Court issued its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment in 

favor of Plaintiff, awarding each Plaintiff the sum of $200.000. 

  3.   The work actually performed by the lawyer: the skill, time and  
   attention given to the work; 
 
 Although four separate attorneys represented Plaintiffs at one time or other during this 

case, the bulk of the work was done by two lawyers: Allen Lichtenstein and John H. Scott.  

   a.   Allen Lichtenstein 

 Allen Lichtenstein entered the case as Plaintiffs’ counsel at its commencement, in his 

capacity as General Counsel for the ACLUN. Since July 31, 2014, he has continued this 

representation as a private attorney, where he has accumulated 690.77 hours of work on this case, 

at a rate of  $600 per hour for a total of $414,460.00 (See Declaration of Allen Lichtenstein, 

Exhibit 2). As set forth in Mr. Lichtenstein’s attached Declaration, he was responsible for the bulk 

of the extensive briefing, including the written closing  briefs, and served as second chair during 

the trial. He was also responsible for discovery, witness and trial preparation.  

   b. John H. Scott 

  John H. Scott, a licensed California lawyer, entered the case pro hac vice on July 7, 2015. 

He was associated in because of his extensive background in trying civil rights cases. At the time 

Mr. Scott entered the case, Mr. Lichtenstein was the sole counsel for Plaintiffs. He has 

accumulated 383.50 hour of work on this case, at a rate of $650 per hour for a total of 

$249.275.00.   (See, Declaration of John H. Scott. Exhibit 1). As set forth in Mr. Scott’s attached 

Declaration he was responsible for conducting the trial. He was also involved in trial preparation, 

discovery, depositions and briefing.   

   c. Staci Pratt 

 Staci Pratt entered the case as Plaintiffs’ counsel at its commencement, in her capacity as 

Legal Director for the ACLUN. Between July 31, 2014 and December 2, 2014, she represented 
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Plaintiffs as a private attorney, where she accumulated 20.8  hour of work on this case, at a rate of  

$450 per hour for a total of $10,980.00 (See Declaration of Allen Lichtenstein, Exhibit 2) Staci 

Pratt was involved early in the case with client contact, helping to draft the original Complaint and 

the Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss, and the Amended Complaint.  

   d. Amanda Morgan 

 Amanda Morgan was involved in the early stages of the case with the ACLUN. She 

assisted with background research and client meetings for this case. (See Declaration of Allen 

Lichtenstein, Exhibit 2). All of her work was through the ACLUN through July 2014, where she 

accred 31,95 hours at a rate of $225 per hour, totaling $7,188.75. The ACLUN also utilized interns 

at the rate of $125 per hour for 20.3 hours, totaling $2,537.50.  

  4. The result: whether the attorney was successful and what benefits were 
   derived. 
 
 The success of the efforts of Plaintiffs’ attorneys  is unambiguous. Plaintiffs  prevailed on 

both of the claims for relief, at trial and each received damages in the sum of $200,000. Plaintiffs’  

victory was complete.  However, in pursuing their case, Plaintiffs incurred significant attorneys 

fees that are the subject of this motion.   

IV. Plaintiffs are entitled to an award of costs. 

 A. Plaintiffs are entitled to recover the costs of litigation. 

 N.R.S. § 18.020 states that prevailing parties are entitled to recover their costs. Plaintiffs 

are also entitled to costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988.  See, Ilick  v. Miller, 68 F.Supp.2d 1169, 

1181-1182 (D.Nev. 1999)( Plaintiffs are entitled to recover reasonable litigation expenses.) 

Plaintiffs are also entitled to an award of costs representing out-of-pocket litigation expenses. 

United Steelworkers of America v. Phelps Dodge Corp., 896 F.2d 403, 407 (9th Cir. 1989). In 

total, plaintiffs seek an award of $716,691.06. This includes costs incurred in travel (airfare, car 
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rental, hotels and food, gasoline and the like), telephone, postage and photocopying. Illick, 68 F. 

Supp. 2d at 1181. 

 On July 27, Plaintiffs filed a Verified Memorandum of Costs.  As Defendants noted in 

their July 31, 2017 Motion to Retax Costs, certain invoices verifying these costs were 

inadvertently missing. Attachment 4 to  Exhibit 2 (Declaration of Allen Lichtenstein) lists all of 

the recalculated costs and has the complete documentation attached.  These costs are neither 

duplicative nor excessive. 

 B. Plaintiffs are entitled to attorney fees in connection to the Motion for Attorney 
  fees.  
  
  Work performed on a motion for fees under 42 U.S.C. § 1988 is compensable. D'Emanuele 

v. Montgomery Ward & Co., 904 F.2d 1379, 1387 (9th Cir. 1990);  In re Nucorp Energy, 764 F.2d 

655, 660 (9th Cir. 1985).  Plaintiffs are entitled to attorney fees for the time spent preparing this 

motion, as set forth in the attached Declarations of John H Scott and Allen Lichtenstein. 

III. Conclusion 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs having prevailed in this case, requests that this Honorable Court 

grant Plaintiffs motion, and grant fees in the amounts requested, as follows: 

 

      rate per hr. hrs expended total 

 Fees for John H. Scott:  $450  350  $157,500.00  

 Fees for Allen Lichtenstein:  $450  650  $292,500.00 initial fee 
 (as a private attorney)   $450  10.80  $ 4,860.00  post- 
                 remand 
 
 Staci Pratt    $450   20.80  $  9,360.99 
 (as a private attorney) 
 

 Fees for the ACLUN     
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   Pratt   $450   8.6   $3,870.00 

   Morgan  $225  31.95   $7,188.75 

     

 Total fees                $476,898.75  

 Costs:                 $ 19,236.19 

  Total                $494,514.94    

Dated this  18th day of July 2017, 

Respectfully submitted by: 
  
     /s/Allen Lichtenstein 
     Allen Lichtenstein 

Nevada Bar No. 3992 
ALLEN LICHTENSTEIN LTD. 
3315 Russell Road, No. 222 
Las Vegas, NV  89120 
Tel:  702.433-2666 
Fax:  702.433-9591 
allaw@lvcoxmail.com 
 
 
 
John Houston Scott (CA Bar No. 72578) 
Admitted Pro Hac Vice 
SCOTT LAW FIRM 
1388 Sutter Street, Suite 715 
San Francisco, CA  94109 
Tel:  415.561.9601 
john@scottlawfirm.net 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs, Mary Bryan, Ethan Bryan, 
Aimee Hairr and Nolan Hairr 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

         I hereby certify that I served the following   Motion for Fees and Costs via Court’s electronic 

filing and service system and/or United States Mail and/or e-mail on the 18th day of July 2021, to: 

Dan Waite 
Lewis Rocha Rothgerber Christie 
3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy., Suite 600 
Las Vegas, NV  89169-5996 
 
DWaite@lrrc.com 
 
                /s/ Allen Lichtenstein 
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EXHIBIT A 

Plaintiffs’ 7/27/17  Motion for Fees and Costs 
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Allen Lichtenstein (NV State Bar No. 3992) 
ALLEN LICHTENSTEIN, LTD. 
3315 Russell Road, No. 222 
Las Vegas, NV  89120 
Tel:  702.433-2666 
Fax:  702.433-9591 
allaw@lvcoxmail.com 
 
John Houston Scott (CA Bar No. 72578) 
Admitted Pro Hac Vice 
SCOTT LAW FIRM 
1388 Sutter Street, Suite 715 
San Francisco, CA  94109 
Tel:  415.561-9601 
john@scottlawfirm.net 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs, Mary Bryan, Ethan Bryan,  
Aimee Hairr and Nolan Hairr 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 

MARY BRYAN, mother of ETHAN BRYAN; 
AIMEE HAIRR, mother of NOLAN HAIRR, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
 

vs. 
 
CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 
(CCSD  
 

Defendant . 
 

 Case No. A-14-700018-C 
 
Dept. No. XXVII 
 
ERRATA TO  
PLAINTIFFS’  MOTION FOR 
ATTORNEYS FEES AND COSTS 
 
Department:  XXVII 
 
Trial Dates: Day1, 11/15/16; Day 2, 
11/16/16; Day 3, 11/17/16; Day 4, 11/18/16; 
Day 5, 11/22/16 

   
  
 Plaintiffs’ Motion for Attorneys Fees and Costs, filed August 9, 2017 inadvertently 

omitted the Notice of Motion. A corrected version with the Notice is attached.   

Dated this 10th day of August 2017, 

Respectfully submitted by: 

 

/s/Allen Lichtenstein 
Allen Lichtenstein 
Nevada Bar No. 3992 
ALLEN LICHTENSTEIN LTD. 
3315 Russell Road, No. 222 
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Las Vegas, NV  89120 
Tel:  702.433-2666 
Fax:  702.433-9591 
allaw@lvcoxmail.com 
 
John Houston Scott (CA Bar No. 72578) 
Admitted Pro Hac Vice 
SCOTT LAW FIRM 
1388 Sutter Street, Suite 715 
San Francisco, CA  94109 
Tel:  415.561.9601 
john@scottlawfirm.net 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs, Mary Bryan, Ethan Bryan,  
Aimee Hairr and Nolan Hairr 
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EXHIBIT B 

Order re: Plaintiffs’Motion for Fees and Costs 
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Case Number: A-14-700018-C

Electronically Filed
11/16/2017 12:37 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURTCLERK KKKKKK OF THE COUUURTRTRRTTTTT
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EXHIBIT C 

Order re: Costs 
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NEOJ
Daniel F. Polsenberg (State Bar No. 2376)
Dan R. Waite (State Bar No. 004078)
Brian D. Blakley (State Bar No. 13074)
LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP
3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy, Suite 600
Las Vegas, NV 89169-5996
Tel: 702.949.8200
Fax: 702.949.8398
DPolsenberg@lrrc.com
DWaite@lrrc.com
BBlakley@lrrc.com
Attorneys for Defendants Clark County School
District (CCSD), Warren P. McKay, Leonard DePiazza,
Cheryl Winn, John Halpin, Robert Beasley

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

MARY BRYAN, mother of ETHAN
BRYAN; AIMEE HAIRR, mother of
NOLAN HAIRR,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
(CCSD); et al.,

Defendants.

Case No. A-14-700018-C

Dept. No.XXVII

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF “ORDER
ON CCSD’S MOTION TO RETAX
MEMORANDUM OF COSTS AND
DISBURSEMENTS”

Date of Hearing: September 6, 2017

Time of Hearing: 9:00 a.m.

Please take notice that on the 15th day of September, 2017, an “Order on CCSD’s

Motion to Retax Memorandum of Costs and Disbursements” was entered in this case. A copy of

the order is attached.

Dated, this 19th of September, 2017
Lewis Roca Rothgerber Christie LLP

By: /s/ Brian Blakley
Daniel F. Polsenberg (SBN 2376)
Dan R. Waite (SBN 4078)
Brian D. Blakley (SBN 13074)
3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy, Suite 600
Las Vegas, NV 89169-5996
Attorneys for CCSD

Case Number: A-14-700018-C

Electronically Filed
9/19/2017 10:26 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURTCLERK KKKKKKK OF THE COUUUURTRTRTRTTRTRTTTT
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that on September 19, 2017, I served the foregoing “Notice of

Entry of Order on CCSD’s Motion to Retax Memorandum of Costs and

Disbursements” through the Court’s electronic filing system, by U.S. Mail,

postage prepaid, and by courtesy e-mail to the following counsel:

Allen Lichtenstein, Esq.
Staci Pratt, Esq.
ALLEN LICHTENSTEIN ATTORNEY AT LAW, LTD.
3315 Russell Road, No. 222
Las Vegas, Nevada 89120
allaw@lvcoxmail.com
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

John Houston Scott, Esq.
SCOTT LAW FIRM
1388 Sutter Street, Suite 715
San Francisco, CA 94109
john@scottlawfirm.net
Attorneys for Plaintiffs
(Admitted Pro Hac Vice)

/s/ Luz Horvath
An Employee of Lewis Roca Rothgerber Christie LLP

002715

002715

00
27

15
002715



Case Number: A-14-700018-C

Electronically Filed
9/15/2017 2:37 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURTCLERK KKKKKKK OF THE COUUURTRTRRTTTRTTT
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EXHIBIT D 

Declaration of Allen Lichtenstein 
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 Allen Lichtenstein (NV State Bar No. 3992) 
ALLEN LICHTENSTEIN, LTD. 
3315 Russell Road, No. 222 
Las Vegas, NV  89120 
Tel:  702.433-2666 
Fax:  702.433-9591 
allaw@lvcoxmail.com 
 
John Houston Scott (CA Bar No. 72578) 
Admitted Pro Hac Vice 
SCOTT LAW FIRM 
1388 Sutter Street, Suite 715 
San Francisco, CA  94109 
Tel:  415.561-9601 
john@scottlawfirm.net 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs, Mary Bryan, Ethan Bryan, 
Aimee Hairr and Nolan Hairr 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 

MARY BRYAN, mother of ETHAN BRYAN; 
AIMEE HAIRR, mother of NOLAN HAIRR, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
 

vs. 
 
CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 
(CCSD  
 

Defendant . 
 

 Case No. A-14-700018-C 
 
Dept. No. XXVII 
 
 DECLARATION OF ALLEN 
LICHTENSTEIN 
 
Department:  XXVII 
 
Trial Dates: Day1, 11/15/16; Day 2, 
11/16/16; Day 3, 11/17/16; Day 4, 11/18/16; 
Day 5, 11/22/16 

   
                 

 Allen Lichtenstein, declares under perjury pursuant to the laws of Nevada as follows: 

 1.  I am an attorney licensed to practice law in the State of Nevada. 

 2.  I have personal knowledge of the matters set forth herein, except for those matters 

known on information and belief, and for those matters, I believe them to be true. 

 3.  I am competent to testify to the same; and, I make this Declaration in support of the 

foregoing Motion for Attorney Fees and Cost of which this Declaration is made a part. 

 4.  I worked with co-counsel  in the preparation of the foregoing Motion 
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for Attorney Fees and Costs; and all the facts set forth therein are true and correct to the best of 

my knowledge, information and belief. 

 5.  I have been practicing law for 31 years. I was admitted to practice in Nevada in 

1990, and my Bar Number is 3992. I am also licensed to practice law in California. 

 6.  After being admitted to practice. I have maintained a practice of law with an 

emphasis constitutional law and civil rights matters. 

 7.  I was also General Counsel for the ACLU of Nevada for 17 years, starting in 1997. 

 8.  I have practiced in federal and state courts in Nevada and California, including: 

Federal District Courts, Nevada State District Courts, Justice Courts and Municipal Courts. 

 9.  I have also argued before the Nevada Supreme Court, the Ninth Circuit Court of 

Appeals, and the United State Supreme Court. 

 10.  I was retained by Plaintiffs since the onset of this case: first as General Counsel for 

the ACLU of Nevada, then as a private attorney  

 11.   In addition to the sum of $292,500, representing 650 hrs of work at $450 per hour, 

for pre remand fees, which was granted by this Court in its 11/16/19 Order, in addition, post-

remand, I also worked for 10.80 hours at the same $450 rate for an additional $4,860.  

 I hereby affirm that the foregoing is true and correct, and this Declaration is executed 

under penalty of perjury this 18th day of Septembe in Las Vegas, Nevada. 

 
       /s/Allen Lichtenstein 
       Allen Lichtenstein 
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Allen Lichtenstein
Attorney at Law

3315 Russell Road, No. 222
Las Vegas, NV  89120

Bryan & Hairr (Post Remand)

July 16, 2021

Invoice submitted to:

Professional Services

    Hrs/Rate     Amount

2/17/2021 0.50 225.00
450.00/hr

Hearing

2/25/2021 0.50 225.00
450.00/hr

Hearing

3/24/2021 1.70 765.00
450.00/hr

Draft proposed findings of fact

3/26/2021 2.90 1,305.00
450.00/hr

Draft plaintiff's proposed conclusions of law

4/15/2021 3.10 1,395.00
450.00/hr

Draft plaintiff's objections to defendant's proposed conclusions of law

4/16/2021 0.70 315.00
450.00/hr

Reviewed defendant's response

5/7/2021 0.10 45.00
450.00/hr

Reviewed minute order

6/16/2021 0.10 45.00
450.00/hr

Reviewed order

6/27/2021 0.20 90.00
450.00/hr

Draft notice of entry of order

7/11/2021 1.00 450.00
450.00/hr

Draft fee motion

For professional services rendered $4,860.0010.80
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Bryan & Hairr (Post Remand) 2Page

For your convenience we accept all credit cards for payment. Please call Paula at (702)433-2666 to charge all or any
portion of your bill.
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OPPM 
DANIEL F. POLSENBERG (SBN 2376) 
DAN R. WAITE (SBN 4078) 
BRIAN D. BLAKLEY (SBN 13074)  
LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP 
3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, NV 89169-5996 
Tel: 702.949.8200 
Fax: 702.949.8398 
DPolsenberg@LewisRoca.com 
DWaite@LewisRoca.com 
BBlakley@LewisRoca.com 
 
Attorneys for Defendant Clark County School  
District (CCSD) 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

MARY BRYAN, mother of ETHAN 
BRYAN; AIMEE HAIRR, mother of 
NOLAN HAIRR, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
 

vs. 
 
CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 
(CCSD) 
 

Defendant. 
 
 

 Case No. A-14-700018-C 
 
Dept. No. XXVII 
 

DEFENDANT’S OPPOSITION TO 
“PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR 

ATTORNEYS FEES AND COSTS” 
 

Date of Hearing: August 19, 2021 
 
Time of Hearing:  9:30 a.m. 

 

INTRODUCTION  

Plaintiffs’ Complaint asserted 69 claims against 27 defendants—yet, 

plaintiffs prevailed at trial on just 2 claims against 1 defendant.  That equates 

to a success rate of less than 3% (and includes a success rate of 0% against 26 

defendants). More particularly, plaintiffs asserted so many claims against so 

many defendants that a chart is needed to keep them straight (the 

bolded/underlined claims are the only two claims that plaintiffs prevailed on at 

trial): 

/ / / / 

/ / / / 

Case Number: A-14-700018-C

Electronically Filed
8/2/2021 10:52 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Defendants Claims for Relief 
1. Clark County School District 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 
2. Pat Skorkowsky, in his official capacity 1, 2, 4, 5 
3. CCSD Board of Trustees 1, 2, 4, 5 
4. Erin Cranor, in her official capacity 1, 2, 4, 5 
5. Linda Young, in her official capacity 1, 2, 4, 5 
6. Patrice Tew, in her official capacity 1, 2, 4, 5 
7. Stavan Corbett, in his official capacity 1, 2, 4, 5 
8. Carolyn Edwards, in her official capacity 1, 2, 4, 5 
9. Chris Garvey, in her official capacity 1, 2, 4, 5 
10. Deanna Wright, in her official capacity 1, 2, 4, 5 
11. Greenspun Junior High School 1, 2, 4, 5 
12. Warren McKay, individually ? 
13. Warren McKay, in his official capacity 1, 2, 4, 5 
14. Leonard DePiazza, individually ? 
15. Leonard DePiazza, in his official capacity 1, 2, 4, 5 
16. Cheryl Winn, individually ? 
17. Cheryl Winn, in her official capacity 1, 2, 4, 5 
18. John Halpin, individually ? 
19. John Halpin, in his official capacity 1, 2, 4, 5 
20. Robert Beasley, individually ? 
21. Robert Beasley, in his official capacity 1, 2, 4, 5 
22. Nevada Equal Rights Commission 6 
23. Kara Jenkins, individually ? 
24. Kara Jenkins, in her official capacity 6 
25. Dennis Perea, individually ? 
26. Dennis Perea, in his official capacity 6 
27. NV Dept. of Empl., Training, & Rehab. 6 

Total Number of Claims Asserted: 691 

 After plaintiffs won on just 2 claims and against just 1 defendant at 

trial, they moved for a $716,691.06 fee award, under 42 U.S.C. § 1988’s 

“prevailing party” provision. (Pls’ Original Fee Mot., Aug., 9, 2017). CCSD 

opposed that motion and showed that plaintiffs’ total fee award should not 

                                                 
1  Although plaintiffs’ Complaint names several defendants in their 
individual and official capacities, the Complaint does not identify which claims 
are asserted against the individual-capacity defendants.  Therefore, the 
calculation of 69 asserted claims does not include any claims that plaintiffs 
asserted against the individual-capacity defendants.  However, plaintiff 
presumably intended to assert at least one claim against each of the seven 
individual-capacity defendants.  Such would bring the total number of 
asserted claims to at least 76. 
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exceed $171,883.20 (CCSD’s “Original Opposition”). (Opp’n, Aug. 28, 2017). 

CCSD reached this number by calculating the appropriate lodestar of $214,854 

and then applying a 20% reduction under the controlling “partial success” test. 

(Id. at 27-30 (applying Hensley v. Eckerhart, 461 U.S. 424, 440 (1983)). After 

the briefing on the original motion, the Court entered an original fee award of 

$470,418.75. (Order, Nov. 16, 2017).  

 On appeal, the Nevada Supreme Court reversed 1 of the 2 claims 

outright, and it reversed and remanded the only other remaining claim for 

additional findings on liability. Clark Cty. Sch. Dist. v. Bryan, 136 Nev. ___, 

478 P.3d 344 (Dec. 24, 2020). That ruling vacated this Court’s judgment, along 

with its award of damages, fees, and costs, and left those issues to be decided 

on remand, if necessary. See id.  

 On remand, this Court adopted the parties’ jointly proposed findings of 

fact and the plaintiff’s proposed conclusions of law.  But, the Court has not yet 

entered any judgment on remand. Thus, there is currently no judgment in this 

case (let alone any judgment amount). Yet, plaintiffs now move the Court to 

re-enter the original $470,418.75 fee award and to make an upward 

adjustment of $6,480, as compensation for counsel’s post-remand work, for a 

new total of $476,898.75. (Post-Remand Fee Mot., July 18, 2021, at 25) (the 

“Motion”).2 The Motion fails for at least three reasons: (1) the motion is 

premature, i.e., until a judgment enters, there is no “prevailing party” and no 

way to measure the extent of the “prevailing party’s” success; (2) on remand, 

plaintiffs’ “success” is—at most—half of what it was following trial, meaning 

an additional downward adjustment for “partial success” is necessary; and (3) 

plaintiffs are not entitled to any fees they incurred as a result of losing the 

appeal. 
                                                 
2  At one point in their brief, plaintiffs contend they seek a new total of 
$474,778.75, reflecting an upward adjustment of $4,360. (See Post-Remand 
Fee Mot., July 18, 2021, at 8). So, it is unclear which of the two upward 
adjustment amounts plaintiffs actually seek.  
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A. Without a judgment, the fee motion is premature  

At this stage, any motion for fees is unripe. Without a judgment (and a 

judgment amount) from this Court, plaintiffs have not “prevailed” at all, 

meaning there is no basis for any fee award under § 1988. See 42 U.S.C. § 1988 

(the Court has discretion to award “reasonable” fees to parties who “prevail” on 

certain civil rights claims). Thus, the requested fee award is currently 

impossible to evaluate. (Id.).   

Further, without a specific judgment amount, the Court cannot 

determine whether—or to what extent—a downward adjustment is required 

under Hensley’s controlling “partial success” test. See, e.g., Hensley, 461 U.S. at 

440 (“[T]he extent of a plaintiff's success is a crucial factor in determining the 

proper amount of an award of attorney fees under 42 U.S.C. § 1988.”); see also 

Original Opp’n, Aug. 28, 2017 (applying Hensley and its progeny, including 

cases with downward adjustments based on the size of the judgement as 

compared to the scope of the litigation as a whole). Quite simply, there is 

currently no “success” to measure, because there is no judgment amount. So, 

all other defects aside, plaintiffs have put the cart before the horse.  

Accordingly, CCSD requests that either (1) the Motion be denied, 

without prejudice, as premature, or (2) briefing on the Motion be stayed until 

after the Court enters a judgment.  Still, in an abundance of caution, CCSD 

will briefly respond, in the next sections, to the amount of fees requested.  
 

B. As a result of the appeal, an additional reduction is necessary to 
account for plaintiffs’ further reduced “partial success”  

CCSD continues to oppose the original $470,418.75 fee award—and 

maintains that a significant reduction is necessary—for all of the reasons 

demonstrated in its Original Opposition. (Opp’n, Aug. 28, 2017). So, instead of 

burdening the docket by copying-and-pasting all of those arguments into this 

brief, CCSD incorporates them by this reference as though they were expressly 
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restated here. For the Court’s convenience, CCSD has also attached its 

Original Opposition as Exhibit 1.  

As the Original Opposition demonstrates, the original fee award 

(following trial) should have been reduced to $171,883.20. (Id.). And now, post-

remand, an additional “partial success” reduction is necessary.  That is, after 

the appeal, plaintiffs won even less of the case than before, so their fees should 

be even less than before. 

Specifically, the original fee award was calculated, in part, using 

Hensley’s “partial success” test. See 461 U.S. at 440. Under that test, the size 

of a § 1988 fee award is tied to the degree of success plaintiffs achieved. Id. A 

full lodestar is appropriate only where “a plaintiff obtained excellent results,” 

and a reduction is required where the plaintiff achieves only “partial or limited 

success.” Id. Such success is determined by comparing the claims filed and the 

damages sought against the claims won and the damages obtained. (See 

Original Opp’n, Ex. 1 (explaining and applying Hensley and its progeny)). 

Following trial, the “partial success” test should have resulted in a significant 

reduction to plaintiff’s lodestar. (Id.).  

As demonstrated in the Original Opposition, a substantial “partial 

success” reduction was warranted because, in this lawsuit, plaintiffs asserted 

a total of 69 claims against 27 defendants and sought $1.2 million in damages, 

but at trial, they prevailed on just 2 claims against just 1 defendant, and they 

won a total of $400,000 ($200,000 per plaintiff)—33% of the damages they 

sought.(Id.)  They obtained none of the declaratory or injunctive relief 

plaintiffs originally sought.  They obtained none of the monetary relief they 

sought against 26 of the 27 original defendants.  Thus, they did not achieve 

the “excellent result” described in Hensley, meaning they did not qualify for a 

full lodestar award. (Id.). Rather, and at most, they achieved a “partial or 
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limited success,” requiring a downward adjustment under the Hensley test. 

(Id.).  

On appeal, however, plaintiffs’ “limited success” was cut in half. 

Specifically, the Supreme Court reversed 1 of the 2 surviving claims outright, 

and it reversed and remanded the other for additional findings. See Bryan, 136 

Nev. ___, 478 P.3d 344. This means that even if plaintiffs are successful on 

remand, they cannot “prevail” on anything more than their 1 remaining claim 

against the 1 remaining defendant.   

This is the smallest amount of “success” a plaintiff could possibly achieve 

while remaining eligible for a fee award, because a plaintiff must always 

“prevail” on at least 1 claim against 1 defendant to qualify for “prevailing 

party” fees under § 1988. See 42 U.S.C. § 1988. So, plaintiffs’ “success” is now 

limited to the minimum possible for any fee award. Thus, because plaintiffs’ 

already “limited success” was cut in half by the Nevada Supreme Court, a 

further “partial success” reduction is now warranted. For that reason alone, 

the fee award must be less, not more, than it was before.  
 

C. Plaintiffs lost on appeal—they are not entitled to any post-
remand fees  

Finally, plaintiffs’ request for an additional award of $6,480 for post-

remand work is meritless. Plaintiffs lost on appeal. Thus, any and all of 

plaintiffs’ post-remand fees were necessitated not because they won the appeal 

but rather because they lost the appeal. CCSD has no obligation to pay fees 

resulting from plaintiffs’ loss before the Nevada Supreme Court, and plaintiffs 

cite nothing to the contrary. Indeed, fees resulting from a loss on appeal 

cannot possibly be construed as “prevailing party” fees, meaning they are not 

available under § 1988.  See Dep’t of Educ., State of Hawaii v. Rodarte ex rel. 

Chavez, 127 F. Supp. 2d 1103, 1115 (D. Haw. 2000) (Under § 1988, “[a]n 
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appellee is no longer a ‘prevailing party’ when a favorable judgment on the 

merits in a lower proceeding is reversed on appeal.”). 

 Put differently, plaintiffs do not and cannot present any authority for 

the proposition that the winner on appeal must pay the loser any fees incurred 

as a result of the appellate court’s decision. Thus, this Court should reject any 

upward adjustment for post-remand work.  

CONCLUSION  

 The Court should deny the Motion as premature (or stay briefing 

until a judgment is entered), but in the event the Court proceeds, it should 

further reduce the fee award.  The Court should not make any upward 

adjustment for work done as a result of plaintiffs’ loss before the Nevada 

Supreme Court.  As a result of the appeal, plaintiffs won even less of the case 

than before, so their fees should be even less than before. 

Dated this 2nd day of August, 2021. 

 
LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP 
 
 
By: /s/ Dan R. Waite     

DANIEL F. POLSENBERG  (SBN 2376)       
DAN R. WAITE (SBN 4078) 
BRIAN D. BLAKLEY (SBN 13074) 
 
Attorneys for Defendant 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I certify that I am an employee of Lewis Roca 

Rothgerber Christie LLP, and that on this day, I caused a true and correct copy 

of “Defendant’s Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Attorneys Fees and 

Costs” to be filed and served via the Court’s E-Filing System, which will cause 

an electronic copy to be served on all interested parties. 

Dated this 2nd day of August, 2021. 
 

    /s/ Luz Horvath        
An Employee of Lewis Roca  
Rothgerber Christie LLP 
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OPPM
DANIEL F. POLSENBERG (SBN 2376)
DAN R. WAITE (SBN 4078)
BRIAN D. BLAKLEY (SBN 13074)
LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP

3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy, Suite 600
Las Vegas, NV 89169-5996
Tel: 702.949.8200
Fax: 702.949.8398
DPolsenberg@lrrc.com
DWaite@lrrc.com
BBlakley@lrrc.com

Attorneys for Defendants Clark County School
District (CCSD)

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

MARY BRYAN, mother of ETHAN BRYAN;
AIMEE HAIRR, mother of NOLAN HAIRR,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT (CCSD);
PRINCIPAL WARREN P. MCKAY, in his
individual and official capacity as
principal of GJHS; LEONARD DEPIAZZA, in
his individual and official capacity as
assistant principal at GJHS; CHERYL

WINN, in her individual and official
capacity as Dean at GJHS; JOHN HALPIN,
in his individual and official capacity as
counselor at GJHS; ROBERT BEASLEY, in
his individual and official capacity as
instructor at GJHS,

Defendants.

Case No. A-14-700018-C

Dept. No. XXVII

CCSD’S OPPOSITION TO PLAINTIFFS’
MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND

COSTS

Hearing Date: September 13, 2017
Hearing Time: 9:00 a.m.

Case Number: A-14-700018-C

Electronically Filed
8/28/2017 5:15 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs’ demand for nearly $700,000 in attorney fees is beyond excessive.

Section 1988 does not permit an award of the highest conceivable hourly rate for

every vaguely-described task counsel performed. Rather, it permits a reasonable

award of attorney fees at local market rates.

Under § 1988, the Court performs two calculations to determine a reasonable

award. See, e.g., Hensley v. Eckerhart, 461 U.S. 424, 433-438 (1983). First, it

calculates the lodestar, by multiplying the hourly rate for similarly experienced local

attorneys in similar cases by the number of hours “reasonably expended” in the

litigation. Id.; Blum v. Stenson, 465 U.S. 886, 897 (1984). Second, after the lodestar is

calculated, the court determines if the plaintiffs achieved only “partial or limited

success.” If they did, the court adjusts the lodestar downward as directed by Hensley

and its progeny. See, e.g., 461 U.S. at 436; Schwarz v. Sec'y of Health & Human

Servs., 73 F.3d 895, 901-906 (9th Cir. 1995).

When performing these calculations, the Court is free to either: (1) make line-

by-line cuts to the time records; or, (2) as is commonly done, reduce the award on an

appropriate percentage basis. E.g., Schwarz, 73 F.3d at 905. As the Supreme Court

recently explained, “[t]he essential goal in shifting fees (to either party) is to do rough

justice, not to achieve auditing perfection.” Fox v. Vice, 563 U.S. 826, 838 (2011)

(citing Hensley). Thus, “trial courts may take into account their overall sense of a

suit, and may use estimates in calculating and allocating an attorney’s time.” Id.

Reasonably calculated, the lodestar is $214,854

Here, plaintiffs’ lodestar calculation is so unreasonable that its only

conceivable purpose is to anchor the Court to such a high number that even a large

reduction more than fairly compensates plaintiffs’ counsel. Such manipulation

should not be rewarded.

First, plaintiffs demand hourly rates that are more than double the prevailing

Nevada rate for similarly experienced lawyers in civil rights cases. Infra Part I.A.
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And plaintiffs fall far short of meeting their burden to establish otherwise. Thus, the

Court should reduce the requested hourly rates to the prevailing Las Vegas market

rate of $250.00.

Second, the Court should cut counsel’s claimed hours by at least 20%. Their

time records seek compensation for numerous duplicative, needless tasks and other

non-compensable work. Infra Part I.B. Moreover, many of their time entries are so

vague that the Hensley-required reasonableness analysis is impossible. Infra Parts

I.B.3-6. Similarly, it is clear that Attorney Lichtenstein recorded many of his time

entries long after the events they describe. Infra Part I.B.5. Such non-

contemporaneous entries are inherently unreliable. As a result of the non-

compensable time and deficient records, a modest hours reduction of at least 20% is

more than reasonable. Indeed, courts regularly cut much more under similar

circumstances. Accordingly, the lodestar should be calculated as follows:

Attorney Nevada Hourly Rate Hours
20% Hours
Reduction

Total

Lichtenstein $250.00 690.77 .80 $138,154

Scott $250.00 383.50 .80 $76,700

Under the partial-success rule, the Lodestar should be reduced by 20%

Then, Hensley’s “partial-success” rule requires adjusting the lodestar

downward by at least 20%. Infra Part II. Specifically, the lodestar should be reduced

by 5% for work performed on the unsuccessful, “unrelated” claim against the Nevada

Equal Rights Commission.

Likewise, the lodestar should be reduced by another 15% due to plaintiffs’

“partial success” in this litigation. Among other things, they prevailed against only 1

of 20 defendants named in the original Complaint (only 1 of 15 defendants named in

the First Amended Complaint); they lost on 4 of their 6 claims; failed to obtain any of

the declaratory, injunctive, or punitive relief they sought; and were awarded only
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33% of the compensatory award they requested. Indeed, their victory was partial at

best, meaning a 15% adjustment is more than appropriate. Thus, the total fee award

should be calculated by multiplying the lodestar figure by 80%:

Attorney Lodestar
20% “Partial Success”

reduction
Total

Lichtenstein $138,154 .80 $110,523.20

Scott $76,700 .80 $61,360.00

Finally, the Court should reject plaintiffs’ argument that the “complex” nature

of this case justifies their proposed, excessive award. This case was not complex at

all. Infra Part III. It did not require a single expert, and—until this motion—

plaintiffs themselves described it as “garden variety.” Thus, the combined fee award

for Attorneys Lichtenstein and Scott should not exceed $171,883.20.

ARGUMENT

I. THE LODESTAR CALCULATION DEMANDS

A SIGNIFICANT REDUCTION IN THE REQUESTED FEE AWARD

In Title IX and § 1983 actions, the Court, “in its discretion, may allow the

prevailing party . . . a reasonable attorney’s fee as part of the costs.” 42 U.S.C. § 1988

(emphasis added). To determine a “reasonable attorney’s fee,” the Court begins with

a lodestar calculation. Hensley, 461 U.S. at 433; Blum v. Stenson, 465 U.S. 886, 897

(1984). This requires the Court to multiply a reasonable hourly rate for the services

performed by the number of hours reasonably expended in the litigation. Id. This

calculation provides an objective basis on which to make an initial estimate of the

value of a lawyer's services. Hensley, 461 U.S. at 433, 103 S. Ct. at 1939. The party

seeking fees bears the burden of supporting the hours allegedly worked and the

hourly rates claimed. Id.

Here, the requested hourly rates are beyond excessive and inadequately

supported. Indeed, plaintiffs claim too much and prove too little. Moreover, plaintiffs
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seek fees for duplicative and otherwise non-compensable tasks, and many of the time

entries are so vague that the required reasonableness analysis is impossible. Thus, to

calculate the lodestar, the Court should cut counsel’s proposed, astronomical rates

(which they have never charged in Nevada), to the prevailing Nevada rate. Then, it

should cut the claimed hours by at least 20%.

A. The Requested Hourly Rates
Should Be Significantly Reduced

The first lodestar step is to determine the attorneys’ reasonable hourly rates

“according to the prevailing market rates in the relevant community[.]” Blum, 465

U.S. at 895-96 & n.11 (1984). This is the rate commonly charged in the local legal

community. Id. Here, Attorneys Lichtenstein and Scott hope for hourly rates of

$600.00 and $650.00 respectively. (Mot. at 24). This is more than double the

“prevailing market rate” for Las Vegas litigators with similar experience and

reputations. In fact, the prevailing Las Vegas rates for similar attorneys in similar

civil rights cases is $250.00. Infra Part I.A.2. Further, the requested rates are

inadequately supported. Plaintiffs’ lawyers have never charged paying clients such

excessive rates in Nevada, and they submitted no evidence suggesting they ever

could. Moreover, even their single, supportive declaration suggests that the proposed

fee award is excessive.

1. The proposed rates are more than
double the prevailing Las Vegas rates
for similarly experienced litigators

Plaintiffs agree that, to determine a reasonable hourly rate, the Court must

determine “what the lawyer would receive if he were selling his services in the

market rather than being paid by court order.” (Mot. at 16:7-9 (quoting Continental

Sec. Litig., 962 F.2d 566, 568 (7th Cir. 1992) (Posner, J.)). Simply put, “[t]he

reasonable hourly rate is the rate a paying client would be willing to pay.” Arbor Hill

v. Cty. of Albany, 522 F.3d 182, 190 (2d Cir. 2008). Accordingly, in this case, the
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Court must determine what hourly rate these attorneys could actually charge a Las

Vegas client for the services they performed here. Certainly, they could not charge

(and have not charged) a Las Vegas litigant an hourly rate of $600.00 or $650.00.

Recent federal cases surveying Nevada rates demonstrate that the “prevailing

rate” for partners with 20-40 years of experience ranges from $250.00–$375.00. E.g.,

Home Gambling Network, Inc. v. Piche, 2015 WL 1734928, at *10–11 (D. Nev. Apr.

16, 2015) (surveying Nevada cases and awarding, for example, $268.00 for a

litigation attorney with “20+ years” of experience; $361.71 for a specialist in complex

patent and IP litigation with “30+ years” of experience; and $95.00 for a “newly

licensed” attorney); Fifty-Six Hope Rd. Music, Ltd. v. A.V.E.L.A., Inc., 2017 WL

44942, at *1 (D. Nev. Jan. 4, 2017) (surveying Nevada cases and awarding $325 for

partners and $250 for associates); Dentino v. Moiharwin Diversified Corp., 2017 WL

187146, at *2 (D. Nev. Jan. 17, 2017) (surveying Nevada cases and awarding $350 for

partners; $250 for associates; and $125 for paralegals); Chemeon Surface Tech., LLC

v. Metalast Int’l, Inc., 2017 WL 2434296, at *1 (D. Nev. June 5, 2017) (surveying

Nevada cases and awarding $375 for a partner; $250 for an associate; and $125 for a

paralegal).

For example, Nevada’s U.S. District Court recently awarded 27-year

attorney—and current Lieutenant Governor—Mark Hutchison an hourly rate of

$268.00. Home Gambling Network, 2015 WL 1734928, at *10–11. Relevant to this

case, Lt. Governor Hutchison (1) graduated from law school in 1990, the same year as

Attorney Lichtenstein; (2) is a named partner at a major Las Vegas law firm; and (3)

specializes in, among other things, constitutional litigation.1 Indeed, Lt. Governor

Hutchison has at least as much experience as Attorney Lichtenstein, and he was

awarded $268.00—less than half the rate (approximately 45%) of the $600 rate

Attorney Lichtenstein proposes here.

1 See http://www.hutchlegal.com/attorney/mark-a-hutchison
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2. The prevailing Las Vegas rate for a 27-year attorney
in a bullying-based civil rights case is $250.00

Further, and relevant to this exact case, defense attorney Dan Waite charged

and collected an hourly rate of $250.00, as CCSD’s co-lead counsel. (Waite Decl., at ¶

9, Ex. 1). This reflects the hourly rate Las Vegas clients will actually pay for a 27-

year litigator to handle a civil rights case like this one.

Like Attorney Lichtenstein and Lt. Governor Hutchison, Attorney Waite

graduated from law school in 1990. (Id. ¶ 3). And, like them, he has over 27 years of

local litigation experience (Id. ¶¶ 4-6). Moreover, he (1) is the former managing

partner of Lewis Roca Rothgerber Christie’s Las Vegas Office; (2) holds an

“AV/Preeminent Attorney” rating by Martindale-Hubbell; and (3) has been included

in several editions of The Best Lawyers in America. (Id. ¶¶ 7-8 ).

Currently, he serves as co-lead counsel on this case and in the only other Las

Vegas civil rights cases arising from allegations of student-on-student bullying. (Id. ¶

10). Not surprisingly, he charges the same $250.00 hourly rate in both cases (id. ¶

11), because it reflects what the market will bear for such civil rights work.

Simply put, Attorney Waite has at least as much experience as Attorney

Lichtenstein, both temporally and with respect to bullying civil-rights cases. For

Attorney Waite’s services, the Las Vegas market bore an hourly-rate of less than 42%

of the rate Attorney Lichtenstein proposes. Further, unlike Attorney Lichtenstein’s

$600.00 dream rate, Attorney Waite’s $250.00 billed-and-collected rate reflects what

similarly-experienced Las Vegas litigators, with similar accolades, can actually

charge a paying client, in a case like this one. Thus, according to plaintiffs’ own

argument, the $250.00 rate exemplifies the “reasonable hourly rate,” because it

reflects what a 27-year Las Vegas lawyer would “‘receive if he were selling his

services in the market rather than being paid by court order.’” (Mot. at 16:7-9

(quoting Continental Sec. Litig., 962 F.2d at 568). Indeed, Attorney Waite’s rate
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demonstrates, with precision, the prevailing Las Vegas rate for a litigator with 27

years of experience in a bullying civil rights case.

Moreover, courts are appropriately skeptical when, as here, a fee applicant’s

hoped-for rate is materially higher than the hourly rate charged by opposing counsel.

See, e.g., Andrade v. Jamestown Hous. Auth., 82 F.3d 1179, 1190 (1st Cir. 1996). For

this reason, “the court is entitled to rely upon its own knowledge of attorney’s fees in

its surrounding area in arriving at a reasonable hourly rate, as well as the defense

attorneys’ rates.” Andrade v. Jamestown Hous. Auth., 82 F.3d 1179, 1190 (1st Cir.

1996) (emphasis added). Here, when compared to Attorney Waite’s Las Vegas rate,

plaintiffs’ counsel demands rates that are 158% and 161% higher. This is beyond

excessive.

3. Attorney Lichtenstein has never
charged such excessive rates,
and he failed to meet his evidentiary burden

Attorney Lichtenstein bore the burden of proving that an attorney of his

reputation and experience could actually collect $600.00 an hour in Las Vegas. Faced

with this burden, he did not even try to argue—let alone prove—that he has ever

charged—much less collected—such an astronomical rate. This further confirms that

the rate is unreasonable. Worse, however, Attorney Lichtenstein did not even try to

identify a single, similarly-situated Nevada lawyer who charges $600.00 for this kind

of civil rights work. Thus, he fell far short of satisfying his evidentiary burden.

4. Even if Attorney Scott has charged his proposed
rate in San Francisco, he did not and could not
charge such an excessive rate in Las Vegas

Unlike Attorney Lichtenstein, Attorney Scott attempts to substantiate his

claimed rate, but his evidence is inadequate and irrelevant. Specifically, he asserts—

in his declaration—that he was once awarded a San Francisco rate of $725.00. (Scott

Decl., at ¶25). This, however, is irrelevant here in Las Vegas.

002740

002740

00
27

40
002740



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

102185216_4 8

3
9

9
3

H
o

w
ar

d
H

u
gh

es
P

kw
y,

Su
it

e
6

0
0

La
s

V
eg

as
,N

V
8

9
1

6
9

-5
9

9
6

First, the fee award Attorney Scott cites is supported by several nonparty

declarations and federal decisions stating that $725.00 is a customary San Francisco

rate for similarly experienced lawyers. (J. Scott Decl., Ex. C, A.D. v. State of

California Highway Patrol, 2013 WL 6199577, at *6 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 27, 2013)). But a

customary San Francisco rate is not a customary Las Vegas rate. Instead, as

demonstrated above, $250.00 is a customary Las Vegas rate for similarly experienced

attorneys litigating similar civil rights cases. Supra part I.A.2.

The Las Vegas market simply does not support rates nearly as high as those

charged in San Francisco. In fact, the very order Attorney Scott cites makes clear

that Bay Area rates are so high that even Washington D.C. rates are not comparable.

Id. (rejecting a “formulaic attorneys’ fees schedule used in the District of Columbia”).

Here, the controlling “community” is not San Francisco; it is Las Vegas, Blum, 465

U.S. at 895-96 & n.11, and the customary rate for this kind of work in Las Vegas is

$250.00. Thus, Attorney Scott’s prior San Francisco fee award is irrelevant, and he

has failed to carry his burden to establish that Las Vegas would support a $650 rate.

5. The attorneys refuse to disclose the hourly rates
they actually contemplated at the outset of the case

Further, none of plaintiffs’ attorneys attached their retainer agreement with

plaintiffs. These agreements presumably include a standard termination provision

that requires the payment of a specified hourly-rate, for past work, in the event that

plaintiffs terminate the representation prior to completion. Virtually all contingency

agreements include some provision of this kind. Had Attorneys Lichtenstein and

Scott attached their retainer agreements here, the Court could see exactly what

hourly rates they proposed charging for their services at the outset of the

representation. Unfortunately, they denied the Court the benefit of such evidence.

This signals that they never contemplated charging (and plaintiffs never

contemplated paying) the excessive rates they now propose to the Court. Likewise, it

demonstrates that they can offer no evidence that actually supports such rates.
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Accordingly, the Court should reduce their proposed hourly rates to the

$250.00 rate that this market will actually bare. Any higher rate both lacks

evidentiary support and contradicts the overwhelming evidence that $250.00 is the

prevailing Las Vegas market rate for attorneys with similar reputations, accolades,

and experience.

6. The single nonparty declaration proves
that the hourly rate should be slashed

Even Mr. Dewitt’s declaration, offered in support of Attorney Lichtenstein’s

proposed rate,2 confirms that the proposed rates are excessive. Specifically, Mr.

Dewitt—who holds himself out as a civil rights specialist—states that during his 44

years of litigating civil rights lawsuits he has been awarded a total of approximately

$1 million in fees. (Dewitt Decl., Mot. Ex. 3, at ¶ 8). That is, with all of his numerous

civil rights victories combined, Mr. Dewitt has been awarded just 30% more than the

nearly $700,000 award that plaintiffs now seek for this single civil rights case. This

confirms that the proposed award—for a three-year case litigated almost exclusively

by two attorneys—is excessive.3

2 Notably, Attorney Scott declined to provide a nonparty declaration in support of his
rate. Typically, on a motion of fees, the applicant supports his hourly rate with a declaration
or affidavit from a nonparty lawyer in the community. See, e.g., Browne v. Am. Honda Motor
Co., 2010 WL 9499073, at *6 (C.D. Cal. Oct. 5, 2010) (collecting cases)

3 Still, the Court should strike Mr. Dewitt’s declaration, as his own statements reveal
he cannot provide a reliable estimate of fees for prosecuting a civil rights action in Las Vegas.
As an initial matter, Mr. DeWitt is clearly biased. As a long-time attorney for the adult/erotic
entertainment industry, he once described “local governments in particular” (encompassing
entities like CCSD) as “arrogant, self-righteous assholes . . . . I enjoy suing them.” (See Adult
Video News, Q&A, March 2007, Ex. 5). Given his predisposed, dim view of government
entities, like CCSD, it is unlikely that he is a neutral arbiter of fair and reasonable attorney
rates in this case.

Further, Mr. DeWitt does not have the requisite local experience to opine on Las
Vegas rates. He did not start providing legal services in Nevada until 2007, and he did not
join the Nevada legal community until 2012 (when he moved to Nevada). In fact, a review of
the Eighth Judicial District Court’s website reveals that he has only ever appeared in 15
cases. Surely, appearing in 15 cases does not make a new Nevada attorney an “expert” on
hourly rates for Nevada attorneys. Moreover, Mr. Dewitt does not cite one case where a
Nevada judge awarded him anywhere near the exorbitant rate he describes here.
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7. The proposed rates for junior attorneys and volunteers
should be cut from the calculation or largely reduced

The proposed rates for plaintiffs’ junior attorneys should be proportionately

reduced, if not completely cut.

For example, Attorney Pratt’s proposed rate is entirely unsubstantiated.

Plaintiffs have offered no evidence—no declaration, no affidavit, nothing—to support

it. Thus, plaintiffs have failed to carry their evidentiary burden, and her rate and

hours should be cut from the calculation entirely. But even if the Court disagrees, it

should—at the very least—cut her unsubstantiated, proposed rate to the prevailing

$250.00 Las Vegas rate. Anything more lacks any evidentiary basis.

Likewise, Intern/Attorney Morgan’s unsubstantiated rate should be cut from

the calculation, as it lacks any evidentiary support. Moreover, Ms. Morgan was either

a volunteer student intern or a first-year lawyer at the ACLU when she worked on

this case. To the extent she worked as a volunteer, she should not win any legal fees.

And during the time she worked as a first-year lawyer, she should be awarded no

more than the $95.00 prevailing Las Vegas rate for “newly licensed attorney[s].” See,

e.g., Home Gambling Network, 2015 WL 1734928, at *10 (awarding an hourly rate of

$95.00 for a “newly licensed attorney”).

Likewise, the unsubstantiated $2,537.50 fee request for the other undisclosed

volunteer interns should be cut entirely. Plaintiffs do not even try to substantiate

their proposed rate for these unidentified interns. Likewise, they have cited nothing

that would justify a fee award for interns who voluntarily assisted the ACLU with

this case.

8. The Court should cut or exclude the proposed rates

Based on the forgoing, if the Court exercises its discretion to award fees in this

contingency case, it should calculate that award using the $250.00 rate for Attorneys

Scott and Lichtenstein. Similarly, to the extent the Court grants any award to

Attorney Pratt or Intern/Attorney Morgan, despite the lack of any substantiating
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evidence, it should use the $250.00 rate for Attorney Pratt and the $95.00 rate for

Intern/Attorney Morgan (but only for the hours she worked as non-volunteer lawyer).

B. Due to Duplicative Work, Non-Compensable
Tasks, and Deficient Records, the Court Should
Cut the Claimed Hours By at Least 20%

During the second lodestar step, the Court calculates “the number of hours

reasonably expended in litigation.” Hensley, 461 U.S. at 433 (emphasis added). Here

again, the fee applicant bears the evidentiary burden and must prove all hours

claimed. Id. “Where the documentation of hours is inadequate, the district court may

reduce the award accordingly.” Id.

As Hensley explains, the Court “should exclude from this initial fee calculation

hours that were not ‘reasonably expended’” and cut hours that reflect poor ‘billing

judgment.’” Id. That is, the Court should “exclude from a fee request hours that are

excessive, redundant, or otherwise unnecessary, just as a lawyer in private practice

ethically is obligated to exclude such hours from his fee submission.” Id.

Here, Attorneys Lichtenstein and Scott claim 1165.52 hours. (Mot. at 24). As

demonstrated below, however, many of these hours: (1) result from duplicative or

otherwise needless work, such as one of them preparing for and sitting through a

deposition taken entirely by the other; (2) seek compensation for non-compensable

tasks, such as media interviews; (3) are so vaguely described that it is impossible to

determine whether they were “reasonably expended” in the litigation; (4) consist of

“block billing,” which makes it impossible to determine how much time was spent on

a particular task; or (5) were not recorded in reliable, contemporaneous time entries.

To account for this non-compensable time and the deficient records, the Court should

reduce the hours claimed by 20%.

1. Hours claimed for duplicative work must be cut

Duplicative work must be excluded from the lodestar. E.g., Herrington v. Cty.

of Sonoma, 883 F.2d 739, 747 (9th Cir. 1989). As the Ninth Circuit taught, “courts
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ought to examine with skepticism claims that several lawyers were needed to

perform a task . . . .” Democratic Party of Wash. State v. Reed, 388 F.3d 1281, 1286

(9th Cir. 2004) (internal citations omitted).

Here, many of plaintiffs’ claimed hours are duplicative or otherwise

unreasonable. For example, Attorney Lichtenstein claims a total of 24.45 hours—for

a total fee of $14,670—to accompany Attorney Scott to Dean Winn and Principal

McKay’s depositions, where he did not ask a single question.4 (See generally Winn

Depo, Ex. 2; McKay Depo, Ex. 3). That is, Attorney Lichtenstein proposes that CCSD

pay him $14,670 for the time he spent “prepar[ing]” for and sitting through two

depositions that Attorney Scott took. And this is beyond the $15,892 Attorney Scott

intends to charge for the same 24.45 hours. Given Attorney Lichtenstein’s requested

rate of $600/hr and Attorney Scott’s requested rate of $650/hr, plaintiffs want CCSD

to pay a combined $1,250 for every hour that one of their attorneys spent preparing

to listen to a deposition taken by the other attorney.

These “listening” hours are duplicative and excessive. They resulted from

either (1) an experienced attorney’s decision to voluntarily listen to another

experienced attorney take a deposition; or (2) intentionally inefficient duplication of

effort. In either case, the hours were not “reasonably expended” in advancing this

case. And this is just a single example.

Quite simply, Attorneys Lichtenstein and Scott hold themselves out as

experienced civil rights lawyers, and they should be able to take depositions by

themselves. The Court should reduce their claimed hours accordingly.5

4 Specifically, Attorney Lichtenstein claims 6.05 hours for November 1, 2015, and gives
the following description: “Preparation for deposition; telephone conference with clients;
meeting with John Scott.” (Mot., Ex. 2, Attachment 1, at 7-8). Then, for the next day—
November 2—he claims 10.5 hours, with the following description: “Preparation for McKay
deposition; McKay deposition; confer with John Scott.” (Id. at 8). Then, for November 3, he
claims an additional 7.90 hours, with this description: “Winn Deposition; confer with John
Scott.” (Id. at 8).
5 Plaintiffs may argue that Attorney Lichtenstein was required to attend the
depositions taken by Attorney Scott since Attorney Scott was only admitted pro hac vice.
However, pursuant to SCR 42(14)(b), local counsel’s presence is not required except “at all
motions, pre-trials, or any matters in open court.” There is no requirement that local counsel
be present at depositions.
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2. The hours for “media discussions” must be cut

Hours devoted to media relations and press conferences are not compensable.

(See, e.g., Mot. Ex. 2., Attachment 3, at 3-4 (claiming hours for, among other things,

emails “regarding press conference timeline” (Apr. 28, 2014), “meeting with KNPR”

(May 27, 2014), and “media discussions regarding the case” (July 11, 2014)).

Indeed, it is well settled that “an award of attorneys’ fees should not include

amounts for contact with the media.” Agster v. Maricopa County, 486 F. Supp. 2d

1005, 1016 (D. Ariz. 2007) (citing Gates v. Gomez, 60 F.3d 525, 535 (9th Cir. 1995)

(“These are the kinds of activities that attorneys generally do at their own

expense.”)); accord Rum Creek Coal Sales, Inc v. Caperton, 31 F.3d 169, 176 (4th Cir.

1994) (1988 claim for fees); Gratz v. Bollinger, 353 F. Supp. 2d 929, 941-42 (E.D.

Mich. 2005); Alfonso v. Aufiero, 66 F. Supp. 2d 183, 193 (D. Mass. 1999); Knight v.

Alabama, 824 F. Supp. 1022, 1033 (N.D. Ala. 1993).

As one court noted: “Billing for time spent contacting the media is highly

inappropriate. It takes a lot of chutzpah to not only participate in such media contact

during the litigation, but to bill for it.” Blakey v. Continental Airlines, 2 F. Supp. 2d

598, 604-05 (D. N.J. 1998). Accordingly, these hours must be cut.

3. Many of the claimed hours are so inadequately and vaguely
described that the required reasonableness analysis is
impossible, and a reduction is necessary

Many of the claimed time entries are so lacking in detail that it is impossible

to determine whether the described tasks were reasonable and necessary. Indeed,

these entries are so deficient that the Court cannot determine whether the hours

were “reasonably expended” or reflect “poor billing judgment.” Hensley, 461 U.S. at

434. These hours must be cut. E.g., id. at 437 (holding that an application for

attorney's fees must be supported by billing records that enable the reviewing court

to easily identify the hours reasonably expended); Neil v. Comm’r of Soc. Sec., 495 F.

App’x 845, 847 (9th Cir. 2012) (The district court appropriately cut time “that was

vague and inadequately explained.”); Parrish v. Sollecito, 280 F. Supp. 2d 145, 171
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(S.D.N.Y. 2003)(“The time records submitted in support of an application for

attorney’s fees must be sufficiently detailed to determine the reasonableness of the

hours claimed for any given task.”); see also, e.g., Luciano v. Olsten Corp., 109 F.3d

111, 116 (2d Cir. 1997) (The court must be able to examine “the particular hours

expended by counsel with a view to the value of the work product of the specific

expenditures to the client’s case.”).

For example, Attorneys Scott and Lichtenstein claim fees for numerous

attorney-to-attorney calls and emails, but their time entries provide no indication

what they discussed or how their conversations advanced—or even related to—this

case. Instead, these entries merely note that a conversation took place or an email

was sent:

Att’y Date Task Hours
AL

JS

5/27/15 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.30

0.30

AL 8/13/15 Telephone conference with John Scott 0.40

AL 8/17/15 Telephone conference with John Scott 0.20

AL 10/16/15 Telephone conference with John Scott 0.50

AL 10/29/15 Email to John Scott; telephone conference with John
Scott

0.80

AL

JS

10/30/15 Emails to John Scott

Emails with Allen Lichtenstein; travel to Las Vegas for
depositions

0.30

5.20

AL

JS

11/1/15 Preparation for deposition; telephone conference with
clients; meeting with John Scott

Prep for depositions; telephone conference with clients;
meet with Allen

0.30

6.50

AL

JS

11/4/15 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein; object
information from clients

0.30

1.30

AL

JS

11/6/15 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein; emails
from clients re verdicts in similar cases

0.30

0.70

AL 11/10/15 Telephone conference with John Scott 0.40
AL 11/15/15 Email from John Scott 0.80
AL

JS

11/16/15 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.50

0.50
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AL

JS

11/24/15 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20
AL

JS

12/1/15 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20

AL

JS

12/4/15 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.50

0.50
AL

JS

12/11/15 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20
AL

JS

12/20/15 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.30

0.30
AL

JS

12/22/15 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20
AL

JS

1/4/16 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20
AL 1/5/16 Telephone conference with John Scott 0.30

AL 1/25/16 Meeting with John Scott 1.80
AL

JS

1/29/16 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein; review
supplemental disclosures

0.20

0.50

AL

JS

2/1/16 Emails and telephone conference with John Scott

Multiple emails; telephone conference with Allen
Lichtenstein

0.60

0.60

AL

JS

2/2/16 Emails and telephone conference with John Scott

Multiple emails; review information from clients;
telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.40

1.20

JS 2/3/16 Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein 0.20

JS 2/12/16 Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein 0.20
AL

JS

2/16/16 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.50

0.50
AL

JS

2/17/16 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20
AL

JS

2/24/16 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20
JS 2/26/16 Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein 0.30
AL

JS

3/8/16 Emails and telephone conference with John Scott

Multiple emails; telephone conference with Allen
Lichtenstein

0.60

0.60

AL

JS

3/15/16 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20
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AL

JS

3/16/16 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20
AL

JS

3/18/16 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein; email
from Allen; prep for Winn deposition

0.30

3.30

JS 3/29/16 Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein; opposition
to MSJ

5.50

AL

JS

4/2/16 Emails from John Scott

Multiple emails

0.20

0.30
AL

JS

4/11/16 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20
AL

JS

4/13/16 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20

JS 4/19/16 Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein 1.80

JS 4/21/16 Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein 0.50
AL

JS

4/28/16 Telephone conference with and emails from John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein; multiple
emails

0.50

0.50

AL

JS

5/4/16 Emails from John Scott

Multiple emails

0.30

0.30
AL

JS

5/5/16 Emails and telephone conference with John Scott

Multiple emails; telephone conference with Allen
Lichtenstein

0.50

0.50

AL

JS

5/6/16 Emails from John Scott

Multiple emails

0.40

0.40
AL

JS

5/9/16 Emails and telephone conference with John Scott

Multiple emails; telephone conference with Allen
Lichtenstein

0.40

0.40

AL

JS

5/10/16 Emails from John Scott

Multiple emails

0.30

0.30
JS 5/13/16 Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein; multiple

emails
0.50

JS 5/17/16 Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein 0.20

AL

JS

5/18/16 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20

AL

JS

7/26/16 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20
AL

JS

8/5/16 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20
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8/24/16 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20
AL 8/30/16 Email from John Scott 0.20

JS 8/31/16 Email; telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein 0.50

AL

JS

10/16/16 Multiple emails and telephone conference with John
Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein; multiple
emails

0.80

0.80

AL

JS

10/19/16 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20

AL 10/24/16 Telephone conference with John Scott and multiple
emails

1.80

AL 10/27/16 Telephone conference with John Scott 0.50

AL

JS

10/28/16 Conference call and emails with John Scott

Conference calls; multiple emails; trial preparation

2.30

4.50
AL

JS

11/1/16 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.40

0.40

AL 11/2/16 Emails from John Scott 0.40
JS 11/3/16 Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein 0.20

JS 1/3/17 Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein 0.20

AL

JS

1/10/17 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20

AL

JS

2/14/17 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20

AL

JS

2/22/17 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20

AL

JS

2/23/17 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20

AL

JS

4/7/17 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20

AL

JS

4/13/17 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20

AL 4/17/17 Emails and telephone conference with John Scott 0.30

JS 4/20/17 Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein 0.20

AL

JS

4/21/17 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20
AL

JS

5/9/17 Telephone conference with John Scott

Telephone conference with Allen Lichtenstein

0.20

0.20
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